Initial validation of the Arthroscopic Skills Acquisition Tools (ASATs): A low cost, online tool to develop and evaluate core skills for shoulder arthroscopy

Volume 1 (of 1)

Maulik Jagdish Gandhi

@00327591



The University of Salford, Manchester, UK

Centre for Health Sciences Research

Submitted in Fulfillment of the Requirements of the

Master of Philosophy (MPhil)

September, 2016

Table of Contents

LIST OF TABLES	6
LIST OF FIGURES	7
GLOSSARY OF TERMS	8
DEDICATION	9
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	10
DECLARATION	11
ABSTRACT	13
CHAPTER 1 - INTRODUCTION TO THE THESIS AND STUDY	14
CHAPTER 2: LITERATURE REVIEW	16
AIM OF THE LITERATURE SEARCH	16
Search Terms	16
DATABASES SEARCH	17
AN OVERVIEW OF ARTHROSCOPY	18
ARTHROSCOPIC SKILLS	19
SKILLS REQUIRED TO PERFORM MINIMALLY INVASIVE SURGERY (MIS) AND ARTHROSCOPY	19
HOW ARTHROSCOPY IS DIFFERENT FROM OTHER FORMS OF MINIMALLY INVASIVE SURGERY	20
How shoulder arthroscopy is different from other forms of arthroscopy	21
LEARNING CURVES OF MINIMALLY INVASIVE SURGICAL SKILLS AND ARTHROSCOPY	26
CURRENT TRAINING METHODS	28
CURRENT METHODS OF ARTHROSCOPIC SKILLS ASSESSMENT	30
SUBJECTIVE ASSESSMENT	30
COMPETENCE BY NUMBERS	31
OBJECTIVE ASSESSMENT	31
DRIVERS FOR NEW TRAINING METHODS	35
MINIMISING PATIENT HARM AND ASSOCIATED LITIGATION	35
CONSENSUS TO OBJECTIVE DEFINE SURGICAL PERFORMANCE	35

STANDARDISING TRAINING AND IDENTIFYING TRAINING REQUIREMENTS	36
IMPROVING HOSPITAL EFFICIENCIES	36
Responding to enforced working time directives	37
AN OVERVIEW OF SIMULATION	38
BENEFITS	38
LIMITATIONS	38
Types of Simulators	38
VALIDATION STUDIES INTO ARTHROSCOPIC SIMULATION	44
CONSTRUCT VALIDITY STUDIES	45
Content validity studies	47
PREDICTIVE/TRANSFER VALIDITY STUDIES	48
FACE VALIDITY STUDIES	50
Concurrent validity studies	51
PRACTICAL PRESSURES LIMITING UPTAKE OF SIMULATION	52
NEED FOR ASATS (IDENTIFICATION OF NECESSITY FOR THIS STUDY)	52
INTRODUCTION TO THE ASATS	54
INTRODUCTION TO THE INSIGHT ARTHRO VR SIMULATOR	60
THESIS AIMS	63
<u>CHAPTER 3 – METHODOLOGY</u>	64
INTRODUCTION	64
RESEARCH DESIGN	64
GAINING ETHICAL APPROVAL	64
PARTICIPANTS	65
INCLUSION CRITERIA	65
Exclusion Criteria	65
Recruitment	65
SIGNING UP TO A STUDY SESSION	66
GAINING CONSENT	66
Confidentiality	66

PROCEDURE	66
Assessments	66
DATA HANDLING	67
DATA COLLECTION AND STORAGE	67
DATA RETRIEVAL	68
DATA PROTECTION	68
STATISTICAL ANALYSIS	68
CHAPTER 4: RESULTS	69
OPERATING ROOM VR TASK	70
PALPATE VR TASK	70
Visualise VR task	70
Pendulum VR task	71
ASATS OUTCOME MEASURES	71
CHAPTER 5: DISCUSSION	81
RELEVANCE FOR TRAINING	82
DEVELOPMENT COSTS	83
LIMITATIONS	84
Future work	84
CONCLUSION	85
REFERENCES	86
APPENDICES	99
ETHICAL, ORGANISATIONAL AND SPONSOR APPROVALS	100
PARTICIPANT INFORMATION SHEET (DETAILED & OVERVIEW)	102
ARTHROSCOPIC SKILLS ACQUISITION TOOLS	106
PARTICIPANT CONSENT FORM	112
PARTICIPANT ADVERT MATERIAL DEVELOPED WITH SCALPEL SURGICAL SOCIETY	113
SESSION PLAN	116
RAW DATA	117

List of tables

Table 1: Summary of construct validity evidence by simulator category.

Table 2: Summary of content validity evidence by simulator category.

Table 3: Summary of predictive/transfer validity evidence by simulator category for skills on the simulator.

Table 4: Summary of predictive/transfer validity evidence by simulator category for skills in the operating room.

Table 5: Summary of face validity evidence by simulator category.

Table 6: Summary of the prototype Arthroscopic Skills Acquisition Tools (ASATs). "Shape

 match with Inverted Controls" was used as the assessment ASAT in this correlation study.

 Table 7: ASATs performance measures.

 Table 8: VR performance measures.

Table 9: Expected correlations between the "Shape Match with Inverted Controls" ASAT and

 Virtual Reality (VR) tasks.

 Table 10: Basic demographics of participants.

Table 11: Summary of correlations between the "Shape Match with Inverted Controls" ASAT

 and the "Operating Room" VR task.

Table 12: Summary of correlations between the "Shape Match with Inverted Controls" ASAT

 and the "Palpate" VR task.

Table 13: Summary of correlations between the "Shape Match with Inverted Controls" ASAT

 and the "Visualise" VR task.

Table 14: Summary of correlations between the "Shape Match with Inverted Controls" ASAT

 and the "Pendulum" VR task.

Table 15: Observed correlations between the "Shape Match with Inverted Controls" ASAT and VR tasks.

Table 16: Observed correlations between the "Shape Match with Inverted Controls" ASAT and VR tasks with re-classification of the ASAT "out-number" performance measure to a distance-based measure.

List of Figures

Figure 1: Shoulder scope (on a plastic shoulder model) showing the hand position, fulcrum point and instrument within the joint.

Figure 2: Schematic diagram of a Class 1 Lever highlighting the resultant opposite direction of camera/instrument motion to hand movement (effort).

Figure 3a: (above) Shoulder scope (on a plastic shoulder model) hand position showing the camera and instrument perpendicular to each other.

Figure 3b: (below) Position of the camera and instrument perpendicular to each other.

Figure 4a: (above) Shoulder scope (on a virtual reality shouler model) hand position showing the camera and instrument opposite to each other.

Figure 4b: (below) Position of the camera and instrument perpendicular to each other.

Figure 5: Shoulder arthroscopy in the beach chair position showing the joint line (red) being perpendicular to the floor (yellow) (image courtesy of Len Funk, <u>www.shoulderdoc.co.uk</u>).

Figure 6: Shoulder arthroscopy in the lateral decubitus position showing the joint line (red) being parallel to the floor (yellow) (image courtesy of Len Funk, <u>www.shoulderdoc.co.uk</u>).

Figure 7: Knee held in a flexed position whilst supine showing the joint line (red) being parallel to the floor (yellow).

Figure 8: Knee held in a "figure of 4" position whilst supine showing the joint line (red) being perpendicular to the floor (yellow).

Figure 9: Learning curve graph. Image modified under the Creative Commons Attribution-Share Alike 3.0 Unported License. Original image ©Alan Fletcher 2013.

Figure 10: Commercial box trainer (Arthrobox® by Arthrex, Naples, FL, USA).

Figure 11: Layout of the ASATs.

Figure 12: Insight Arthro VR (GMV, Madrid, Spain), now known as Simbionix Arthro Mentor (Simbionix Ltd., Aiport City, Israel).

Glossary of Terms

2D: 2-Dimensional 3D: 3-Dimensional AO: Arbeitsgemeinschaft für Osteosynthesefragen ASATs: Arthroscopic Skills Acquisition Tools BOA: British Orthopaedic Association CCT: Certificate of Completion of Training GRS: Global Rating Scale JCST: Joint Committee of Surgical Training MIS: Minimally Invasive Surgery NHS: National Health Service OR: Operating Room UK: United Kingdom USA: United States of America VR: Virtual Reality

Dedication

This work would not have been possible without the commitment of my family.

To my wife, Praksha: you have stayed by my side, from application to the MPhil programme, sacrificing weekends for me to collect data to proof-reading my final thesis. You have been with me through the frustrations of trying to disseminate the findings of this work and kept me on track of thinking of the bigger picture. Thank you.

To my children, Kaisha, Preesh and Krish: you have always kept my work in perspective. When things are hard, then I only need to look at your smiles to keep me going. Preesh – your period of illness inspired me into being strong through times of adversity. Thank you all.

To my parents, Mum and Dad: you have always encouraged me in all my endeavours and let me think "outside the box" which has allowed me to have these ideas in the first place. Thank you both.

To the superior force which oversees Karma: I hope I have done some good. Thank you for this opportunity.

To all those well-wishers from colleagues to friends: Thank you for your understanding, time and support throughout this whole process.

Acknowledgements

I would like to thank my supervisors for the support I have received.

Professor Laurence Kenney: thank you for your guidance and help through the second half of my programme and also in the write-up phase with your comments and critical appraisal.

Professor Lennard Funk: thank you for all your support and encouragement in applying and seeing me through this programme. Without your encouragement and also access to the hospital and simulator, this whole thing would not have been possible.

I also thank Mr. Michael Anderton, an orthopaedic registrar in the North West Deanery, for help in data collection during some assessment sessions.

I wish to thank staff from the Bridgewater Hospital (Manchester) for access to the virtual reality simulator, the University of Manchester and the Scalpel Surgical Society with their help in recruiting participants.

Declaration

I declare that I have solely written this thesis, and that the content and findings of the studies are not being submitted for the award of any other higher degrees, except for the award of an MPhil at the University of Salford.

I declare that I have disseminated the results of the study at recognised national and international research meetings as podium and poster presentations as listed below.

Podium Presentations:

• 50th Golden Anniversary Congress of the European Society for Surgical Research (ESSR), Liverpool, England. September 2014.

This resulted in a published abstract. Full reference:

Gandhi MJ, Anderton MJ, Funk L. Arthroscopic Skills Acquisition Tools (ASATs): an online simulator to develop core skills for arthroscopy. European Surgical Research. 2015; 55 (suppl 1): 1-167.

• 25th SECEC-ESSSE (European Society for Surgery of the Shoulder and Elbow) Congress, Istanbul, Turkey. September 2014.

This resulted in a published abstract. Full reference:

Gandhi MJ, Anderton MJ, Funk L. Can a low fidelity simulator teach the same core arthroscopic skills as a high fidelity simulator? International Journal of Surgery 12 (2014), S83.

Poster Presentations:

- 26th SECEC-ESSSE (European Society for Surgery of the Shoulder and Elbow) Congress, Milan, Italy. September 2015.
- British Orthopaedic Association (BOA) Annual Congress, Liverpool, England. September 2015.

A manuscript has also been published in a peer-reviewed journal targeting an international audience for arthroscopy. The full reference is:

Gandhi MJ, Anderton MJ, Funk L. Arthroscopic Skills Acquisition Tools (ASATs): an online simulator to develop core skills for arthroscopy. Arthroscopy: The journal of arthroscopic and related surgery. 2015; 31(9):1671-1679.

I declare that I have received the following prizes relating to this work:

 British Orthopaedic Association (BOA): Runner-up Award in "Innovation in Simulation and Technology Enhanced Learning" at BOA Annual Congress, Brighton, England. September 2014.

I declare that I have been shortlisted for the following prizes relating to this work:

 Shortlisted for Best Poster Prize at the 25th SECEC-ESSSE (European Society for Surgery of the Shoulder and Elbow) Congress, Istanbul Convention and Exhibition Centre, Istanbul, Turkey. September 2014.

Abstract

There are increasing time pressures on surgical training, including the European Working Time Directive. Developing arthroscopic surgical skills (keyhole surgery into a joint) has a longer learning curve than open surgery, driving the need to develop efficient training techniques. Virtual reality (VR) simulators offer great potential but such high fidelity simulators are not widespread because of their cost and subsequent access restrictions.

A structured program of developing transferrable skills using widely accessible, low cost, but low fidelity simulators may help maximise training opportunities on VR simulators. To address this, the author developed the Arthroscopic Skills Acquisition Tools (ASATs), designed to develop and evaluate the core skills for shoulder arthroscopy, to complement training on VR simulators, cadavers and real patients.

This thesis presents the initial validation study of the ASATs. Performance, assessed using a VR simulator correlates with intra-operative and cadaveric arthroscopic performance and can differentiate between novices and experts, thereby providing a practical "gold standard" test environment for the initial validation of the ASATs. This MPhil study aims to evaluate correlations between performance measured using one of the ASATs and performance on a VR shoulder arthroscopy simulator.

Following ethical approvals, 49 volunteers were recruited and individually received a 1-hour standardised introduction and familiarisation process containing written material, videos and five different ASATs. They were then assessed using a sixth ASAT and four VR tasks. Correlations were assessed between the ASAT measures and the VR measures using Pearson's correlation coefficients.

The results showed 64 significant correlations from a possible 171, of which 19 showed a moderate or stronger relationship (r > 0.5). More significantly was the correlations pattern, which helps to identify which performance measures to target during further development work on the ASATs. However, there remains questions about the optimal timing, intensity and competence levels of such training.

Chapter 1 – Introduction to the thesis and study

The student (MJG) is a practicing doctor who is in his final year of training (10th tier postgraduation from medical school) in an orthopaedic training programme in the United Kingdom (UK). He is aspiring to be a shoulder surgeon, and has a particular interest in arthroscopic surgery. He has experienced first-hand many of the different training methods described and this has inspired him to develop a low cost simulation system, the initial validation of which is the focus of this thesis.

The General Medical Council (GMC) states as part of "Good Medical Practice", a doctor must¹:

"... be competent in all aspects of work..."

"...keep skills up to date..."

"...regularly take part in activities that maintain and develop competence and performance..."

Being competent, keeping skills up to date and maintaining performance is not just in the interest of the individual surgeon, but also important to other stake holders such as hospitals and patients.

Traditional surgical training has been delivered on a one-to-one basis, similar to a masterapprentice relationship.² This method of surgical training is evolving to address the main modern-day challenges:

- 1. Minimising patient harm and associated litigation $^{3-7}$.
- 2. Consensus for the need to be able to objectively define surgical performance $^{4,8-15}$
- 3. Standardising training and improving training efficiency $^{15-18}$.
- 4. Improving hospital efficiencies^{3,19}.
- 5. Responding to enforced working time $^{2,10,20-28}$.

Simulation can address the points raised above, but as will be addressed, practical limitations currently exist with implementation²⁹. Specifically, high fidelity simulation systems may allow the development of skills but the practical application of such systems has been called into question due to poor availability. This has led to the development of low fidelity systems, with high accessibility. One such simulator was designed by the student (MJG) to specifically address these limitations. This simulator was named the Arthroscopic Skills Acquisitions Tools, or ASATs for short.

The thesis begins with a literature review and Chapter 2 summarises how this search was performed. An overview of arthroscopy, arthroscopic skills, current training methods and methods of skills assessment is presented.

This leads onto the drivers for new training methods and overview of simulation as a possible solution. The evidence is reviewed and the practical pressures that are limiting the uptake of simulation is highlighted. This brings the thesis onto why there is the need for a new solution like the ASATs and defines this thesis aims.

Chapter 3 presents the methodology to answer the study question highlighted in the thesis aims. This includes the details of the necessary ethics and recruitment of participants. Chapter 4 presents the findings and interpretation of the results. Chapter 5 is a discussion aiming to contextualise the results, and how these findings fit into the current evidence. This helps clarify what new has been learned and how to guide further research in this field.

Chapter 2: Literature Review

Aim of the Literature Search

A review of the published literature was conducted to establish the full journey of a training doctor wishing to become an orthopaedic surgeon and the opportunities available to develop surgical skills, specifically arthroscopic skills. Such opportunities can come from training in other surgical specialties that employ minimal invasive surgery (MIS) and from within orthopaedics.

The first step was to identify the skills required for arthroscopy. Traditional and current training methods to acquire these skills are reviewed. This was followed by identifying methods to assess arthroscopic skills. A review is presented of the attempts to develop tools that aim specifically to improve surgical skills. The drivers for new training methods were explored and the concept of simulation introduced.

A comprehensive review of the different types of validation studies for arthroscopic simulators performed is presented. The end of this section highlights the practical pressures limiting uptake of simulation and introduces the Arthroscopic Skills Acquisition Tools.

Finally, the gap in the literature is identified, which this thesis aims to address.

Search Terms

Virtual Reality Arthroscopy Laparoscopy Orthopaedics Orthopedics Simulation Computer Simulation Simulator Learning Curve Operating room Operating table

Databases Search

MEDLINE (from 2004-2016). Excerpta Medica dataBASE (EMBASE) (from 2004-2016). Google Scholar website.

An overview of arthroscopy

Arthroscopy is a form of minimal invasive surgery (MIS) or key-hole surgery into a joint. Other forms of MIS include laparoscopy, where the instruments and camera are placed into different parts of the body, typically the abdomen. Arthroscopy is carried out by surgeons in the field of Orthopaedics, whilst laparoscopy can be performed by surgeons in the field of General Surgery or Gynaecology.

Arthroscopy can be used in diagnosis and treatment of an increasing number of joint conditions³⁰. In addition to smaller scars, benefits of arthroscopic surgery can include shorter recovery time, reduced risk of infection and shorter hospital in-patient stay.

It is accepted that arthroscopy requires a different type of skill set to open surgery³¹. Core skills training for the next generation of orthopaedic surgeons needs to include arthroscopic skills^{19,32–34}.

Arthroscopic Skills

Skills required to perform minimally invasive surgery (MIS) and arthroscopy

As indicated by the lack of a consensus on assessment, discussed in the section "Current methods of arthroscopic skills assessment", there remains some debate on what constitutes the core hand-eye coordination skills that needs to be attained over the course of training to be an arthroscopy surgeon^{15,19,35,36}.

Arthroscopic surgery requires many of the same technical skills required for other minimalinvasive surgical procedures. They all utilise a camera and instruments through separate access portals. In both MIS and arthroscopy, it is accepted that hand-eye coordination and manual dexterity³⁷ are the core skills. Hand-eye coordination requires the appreciation of inverted handeye movements. This is because the body acts as a fulcrum (Figure 1). This represents a Class 1 lever and this is drawn schematically in Figure 2.



Camera/instrument motion inside joint moves in opposite direction to hands

Figure 1: Shoulder scope (on a plastic shoulder model) showing the hand position, fulcrum point and instrument within the joint.



Figure 2: Schematic diagram of a Class 1 Lever highlighting the resultant opposite direction of camera/instrument motion to hand movement (effort).

The operator's visual field usually is not wide enough to contain their hands and the camera display monitor because they are positioned at a distance from each other. This means the operator can either look at their hands or the monitor. This results in the disconnection of visual and proprioceptive stimuli. This presents unique technical challenges, namely, the simultaneous interpretation of proprioceptive and visual stimuli from a three-dimensional structure presented as a two-dimensional image and hence development of competence in triangulation is also a central skill^{31,38}.

The additional skills described in the literature include reaction speed, anticipation, steady and accurate movements, and ability to reverse hand-eye coordination^{32,35,39,40}. In arthroscopy, the primary surgeon often uses one hand for camera manipulation allowing the other hand to be used for instrument manipulation.

It is traditional thinking that these skills are best acquired through actual instrument handling and rely on realistic substitutes for live patients³⁸.

How arthroscopy is different from other forms of minimally invasive surgery

There are some notable differences in surgical technique between laparoscopy and arthroscopy^{37,41}.

In laparoscopy, the primary surgeon uses both hands for manipulation of the instruments, and an assistant to hold the camera to visualise the operative field. In arthroscopy, the primary surgeon often uses one hand for camera manipulation allowing the other hand to be used for instrument manipulation. In arthroscopy, the operating field is more confined, as joints are

smaller than the abdomen, thus meaning the instruments used are shorter. The structures within a joint during arthroscopy also provides more tactile feedback, as cartilage and bone are firmer surfaces than abdominal structures³⁷.

Finally, in laparoscopy the operative field is expanded using carbon dioxide gas (CO₂) whilst in arthroscopy it is inflated using irrigation fluid⁴². The effect of the fluid is that it produces a flow effect away from the camera, pushing structures of interest away from visualisation. Techniques need to be employed to try and counter this effect. These are a different set of skills that are not developed during laparoscopic training.

How shoulder arthroscopy is different from other forms of arthroscopy

Arthroscopy is being performed in multiple joints, including shoulder, elbow, wrist, hip, knee and ankle. The two most commonly performed arthroscopies are in the shoulder and knee joint. Not all arthroscopies utilise the same skills as is evident between shoulder and knee arthroscopy^{41,43}.

In the shoulder joint, the major plane of movement is vertical, the operating field is smaller, and the primary surgeon's hands are either perpendicular to each other (Figure 3) or facing each other (Figure 4)⁴⁴. In the knee joint, the major plane of movement is horizontal, the operating field slightly larger and the surgeon's hand primarily parallel to each other⁴⁴. The effect of the hand position tests the surgeon's ability to triangulate.

In shoulder arthroscopy, the patient can be positioned either in the beach chair position (Figure 5) or in lateral decubitus (Figure 6). This latter position turns the patient's anatomy through 90 degrees and tests the surgeon's ability to navigate the gleno-humeral joint effectively. In knee arthroscopy, the patient is positioned supine and the leg manipulated to allow better visualisation (Figure 7), and that may include part of the operation with the leg in a "figure-of-4" position (Figure 8). This again turns the patient's anatomy through 90 degrees.



Figure 3a: (above) Shoulder scope (on a plastic shoulder model) hand position showing the camera and instrument perpendicular to each other.

Figure 3b: (below) Position of the camera and instrument perpendicular to each other.





Figure 4a: (above) Shoulder scope (on a virtual reality shoulder model) hand position showing the camera and instrument opposite to each other.

Figure 4b: (below) Position of the camera and instrument perpendicular to each other.





Figure 5: Shoulder arthroscopy in the beach chair position showing the joint line (red) being perpendicular to the floor (yellow) (image courtesy of Len Funk, <u>www.shoulderdoc.co.uk</u>).



Figure 6: Shoulder arthroscopy in the lateral decubitus position showing the joint line (red) being parallel to the floor (yellow) (image courtesy of Len Funk, <u>www.shoulderdoc.co.uk</u>).



Figure 7: Knee held in a flexed position whilst supine showing the joint line (red) being parallel to the floor (yellow).



Figure 8: Knee held in a "figure of 4" position whilst supine showing the joint line (red) being perpendicular to the floor (yellow).

Learning Curves of minimally invasive surgical skills and arthroscopy

The development of any skill is associated with a learning curve^{43,45}. If plotted with time spent practicing (experience) along the x axis, and a performance measure (learning) on the y-axis, this learning curve typically reaches a plateau (Figure 9). The variables that may influence the final look of this curve include the difficulty of the skill being acquired, the individual's ability to acquire the skills and other confounding variables such as supplementary training and intensity of training opportunities⁴⁶⁻⁴⁸.



Time spend practising

Figure 9: Learning curve graph. Image modified under the Creative Commons Attribution-Share Alike 3.0 Unported License. Original image ©Alan Fletcher 2013.

It has been shown that surgeons in the early phase of their arthroscopic skills learning curve have an increased risk of iatrogenic injury^{6,10,49}. This is because these trainees often have problems with adequate joint visualisation and triangulation⁵⁰.

No predictive factors that represent a faster progression along a learning curve have been identified⁵¹. Practice through repetition can show progression through a learning curve, and even skill retention^{45,51}. The transfer of these skills into theatre will be reviewed later ("Predictive/transfer validity evidence").

Traditional teaching in open surgery relies initially on observational training³⁸ but this has been shown to be sub-optimal in the development of MIS skills⁴⁹. As a result, to acquire these skills

and progress up the learning curve, specific training is required that includes many hours of practice^{31,37} and a significant financial burden (in theatre)⁴.

The amount of time spent practicing can be reduced by external factors such as Working Time Directives, which is reviewed later ("Drivers for new training methods"). This could slow the trainee reaching the plateau part of their learning curve. The impact of a slow learning curve increases the overall cost of training by increasing the time required for achieving competence. A slower learning curve also subjects patients to increased risk through iatrogenic injury. The effect it has on the trainees include decreasing confidence within the surgical procedure which may subsequently affect performance³.

There have been studies published in the literature which look into progressing trainees along their learning curve, particularly in a simulated environment^{37,46–48,51}. This has the advantages that there are no pressures associated with operating on real patients, and the focus on skills developments occurs in a controlled safe environment^{15,52}.

There is also evidence of a skills decay curve, defined by the loss of newly acquired skills if not practiced regularly⁴³. It has been suggested that for advanced arthroscopic techniques, this skills decay occurs over 6 months after which the arthroscopic skills plateaus to baseline performance⁴³.

Current Training Methods

Training has multiple objectives and these can be targeted through different routes²⁰. Broadly, surgical training can be split into knowledge acquisition and skills acquisition. Other objectives, such as decision-making, leadership and communication skills are also required^{20,37}, but these are not covered in this thesis.

Knowledge acquisition, such as anatomy, needs to be learned to be able to perform safe and effective operations. This is typically learned at a basic level at medical school and more detailed knowledge is developed during post-graduate training. As the anatomical knowledge of the surgeon is not the focus for this thesis, no further discussion is provided here.

Orthopaedic training requires a lengthy period of skills assimilation to develop established surgical techniques alongside rapidly evolving techniques⁵³. Traditionally, skills have been developed during the actual procedure, for example during the operation (intra-operative skills acquisition)³⁸. This often is accompanied by pre-procedure cognitive simulation and post-procedure feedback. Cognitive simulation can be as simple as checking the trainee knows the steps of the surgical procedure to virtual operative experience on a mobile device⁵⁴. Post-procedure feedback has traditionally been sub-optimal, with little in the way of constructive feedback. As a result, more objective feedback mechanisms and tools have been developed and these will be reviewed in the "Methods of arthroscopic skills assessment" section of the thesis.

More recently, skills simulation has progressed to allow reproduction of the surgical steps of specific operations⁵³. Surgical approaches on human cadavers has been the gold standard in surgical training⁵⁵.

Clearly there is tissue variability and ethical considerations when using human cadavers or animal models, so there have been attempts to simulate using different models. Simulating open orthopaedic surgical techniques using synthetic bone substitutes has been used by the Arbeitsgemeinschaft für Osteosynthesefragen (AO) foundation for over 50 years⁵⁶. Specific to this thesis, models that have been used for arthroscopy are reviewed in the simulator section.

A study from the United States of America (USA) used an electronic survey to canvass the frequency and perceived effectiveness of 10 types of adjunctive arthroscopic skills training tools⁵⁵. The responses from orthopaedic residents, residency program directors and orthopaedic sports medicine attending physicians showed 9.8% of programs had access to virtual reality

training for arthroscopic skills development. Cadaveric simulation was viewed as the most effective and preferred method of training.

It should be re-iterated that a surgeon's training does have a significant component that involves procedural training, but this is alongside other non-procedural aspects training ^{20,37}. This thesis deals only with the procedural aspects related to shoulder arthroscopy.

Current methods of arthroscopic skills assessment

Ultimately, the purpose of surgical training is to produce a surgeon who is able to perform operations. This introduces the concept of competence. Historically, competence has been bestowed to trainees by senior surgeons, who themselves have gained competence through experience and peer-review^{57–59}. This definition of competence is highly subjective. The inability to define competency and quantifying arthroscopic proficiency has been recognised³⁵. Training programmes are adopting more competency-based models, in which objective skills assessment are required for trainee progression^{15,36}.

In the UK, the Joint Committee of Surgical Training (JCST) mandates a trainee to have performed a minimum of 40 arthroscopic procedures spread across all joints (knee, shoulder, hip and ankle) under supervision over the course of a training programme (6 years)⁴⁴ to be eligible for the Certificate of Completion of Training (CCT).

The competence level now relies more heavily on defining performance. Performance needs to be measurable in order to show progress along a learning curve and plateauing at the same level as an expert. This requires a form of assessment, which broadly can be subjective or objective. Assessment methods on performance have been criticised and continue to evolve.

For the method of assessment to be deemed applicable, it must show feasibility, reliability, and validity⁶⁰. Validity is described in more detail in a later section.

Subjective assessment

Subjective assessment of a trainee is the simplest and earliest form of assessment. It follows similar principles to an apprenticeship, where a trainer will give their trainee or apprentice a global assessment³⁵. It has been shown this form of assessment does not reflect the actual level of skill the trainee may possess^{11,15}. The actual global assessment of a trainee's situational performance is also a reflection of the assessor's/trainer's own experience of that particular scenario⁶¹. For a surgical trainer, that could be the experience of managing patients with a specific type of pathology and the level of complexity³⁵.

To improve the assessment of a trainee's skill, more objectively-based assessment tools have been developed ^{35,55,58,62–65}, whilst remaining feasible and practical^{37,66}. These are discussed below.

Competence by numbers

A learning curve is established and maintained at a plateau if a skill is continuously practiced^{43,45}. This does not define competence, but it does make the assumption that the majority of novices should achieve the same skills performance plateau of experienced surgeons with continued practice^{43,45}. Little evidence exists on how skills acquired in one joint environment actually transfer to another joint. This raises questions surrounding the suitability of modern training programmes at delivering sufficient arthroscopic competencies across the various different anatomical sites encountered in treating patients⁴⁴.

Similarly, the Arthroscopy Association of North America (AANA) does not quantify competence, but requires that 50 arthroscopic cases be performed annually to maintain active membership⁶⁷. The American Board of Orthopedic Surgery (ABOS) requires a one-year accredited ACGME sports medicine fellowship and at least 75 arthroscopy cases to be eligible for subspecialty certification in sports medicine⁶⁸.

The assumption that every novice will progress along a learning curve and performance will plateau at the same level as an expert has been challenged in both arthroscopy^{46,47} and laparoscopy⁴⁸. Hence, it is not appropriate to rely solely on competence by numbers^{57,59}.

Objective assessment

To address the limitations of the above methods of assessment for arthroscopy, more objective methods of assessment has been developed. This allows objective feedback thus allowing for the transition from an apprenticeship-based method of training to a more competency-based training^{58,62}.

Objective assessment tools described can be broadly defined into:

1. Quantifiable outcome measurement: such as mean time to perform the task, force measurements and motion analysis.

2. Procedural checklists/Global ratings scores (GRS): categorical subjective assessment of defined intra-procedural steps.

A recent systematic review in 2016 highlighted 13 studies that evaluated measurement outcomes for knee arthroscopy training⁶⁹. The outcome measures used:

- Mean time to perform the task in all 13 studies.
- Navigation and triangulation based tasks in 10 studies.
- Cartilage collision and surgical force in 6 studies.
- Hand movement/motion analysis in 3 studies.

In shoulder arthroscopy, outcome measures that were able to discriminate skill level on shoulder simulators^{7,10,70,71} include:

- Time to completion of tasks.
- Distance and path travelled by probe.
- Number of probe collisions.

Force measurement evidence

Iatrogenic damage during arthroscopy can occur when there is inadvertent collision with intraarticular structures or during portal placement^{10,11,15}. The surgeon will get tactile feedback when the inadvertent collision is made. Therefore measurements of force when a collision is made and the number of collisions provides an objective method of evaluating tactile surgical performance³⁵. This method of objective assessment has been shown to correlate with level of knee arthroscopic experience, with fewer collisions and lower collision forces noted in experts compared with novices^{72,73}.

Motion analysis evidence

Motion analysis assesses hand or instrument movement with the assumption that a surgeon with a higher skill level will minimise unnecessary movements and proceed with a higher probe velocity^{7,37,73–75}. The novice will still exhibit excess and often unnecessary hand or instrument movements^{74,75}. Validation studies have shown motion analysis is a valid assessment tool in determining skill level^{37,73,76–78}.

It could be used as an adjunct to more traditional methods of assessment^{35,37,52,74,75,79–81}. It helped identify that a subset of medical students failed to achieve competence despite sustained practice^{46,47}, supporting the notion that competency by numbers may not be achieved by all those who practice. There are however associated equipment costs and limitations in that validation has only been shown performing basic arthroscopic tasks^{35,37}.

Global Rating Scales (GRS)/ Task or Procedure-specific checklist evidence

These systems all rely on the principle of scoring against preset criteria by trained assessors. The checklist contains essential elements of a procedure, whilst the GRS focuses on specific surgical behaviours⁵³. These have been shown to superior to direct observation by experts alone^{82,83}.

Global rating scales assess performance across several domains to generate an overall performance rating in simulated and clinical settings^{62,84–87}. They are attractive as they are generic, easy to use in terms of lack of additional equipment, applicability to multiple tasks and usability in the operating room⁶². They have been used across different surgical specialties^{82,84,88,89}.

In orthopaedics, GRS has shown to have the ability to assess skills levels and learning curves ^{35,58,63}. There are different GRS including the Arthroscopic Skills Assessment Form and OAAS³⁵ and Arthroscopic Surgery Skill Evaluation Tool (ASSET) ⁵⁵. The different GRS have similarities in the assessment and domain and anchors. This has unsurprisingly resulted in similar scores and thereby similar differences between skill levels⁶².

The performance of global rating scales assessment have correlated with motion $^{76-78}$.

Similarly, procedure-specific checklists have been well described in other specialties^{90–92}. The gold standard for objective skills assessment in the Structure Assessment of Technical Skills (OSATs)⁶⁴. A modified version to assess knee arthroscopy demonstrated transfer validity to the operating room⁶⁵. Checklists include the Orthopaedic Competence Assessment Project (OCAP)/ISCP Procedure Based Assessment³⁴. Procedure based checklists have been reported to have an inferior construct validity and weaker interrater reliability compared to GRS⁹³. Task specific checklists are the least powerful of the tools, in that they are applicable to a single task and have demonstrated early ceiling effects^{58,94}.

The Basic Arthroscopic Knee Scoring System which is a 2-part assessment with a task-specific checklist and a GRS component⁵⁸. This has the ability to differentiate between levels of arthroscopic experience⁵⁸.

Drivers for new training methods

Training methods will continue to evolve as evidence accumulates around new methods of learning and with the advancement of technology and innovation. There are also drivers for change, such as

- 1. Minimising patient harm and associated litigation.
- 2. Consensus for the need to be able to objectively define surgical performance
- 3. Standardising training and identifying training requirements.
- 4. Improving hospital efficiencies.
- 5. Responding to enforced working time directives.

Minimising patient harm and associated litigation

UK national initiatives such as the National Joint Registry (NJR) and the National Hip Fracture Database (NHFD) now collect data that can identify and report back at hospital level regarding performance^{95,96}. The NJR also releases data to the public on individual surgeon's performances. Although arthroscopic procedures are not compulsorily recorded, the National Ligament Registry (NLR) voluntarily collects information about some knee ligament reconstructive arthroscopic operations and also the clinical outcome⁹⁷. Surgeons are under increasing pressure to demonstrate competence in an objective manner to both peers and to the public^{8,98}.

Litigation arising from accidental injury from orthopaedic surgery causes substantial costs to the NHS³. As identified earlier, it has been shown that surgeons in the early phase of their arthroscopic skills learning curve have an increased risk of iatrogenic injury^{6,10,49}.

Consensus to objective define surgical performance

The difficulty to define a competency level has been discussed earlier. It is accepted that in order to be able to set up a competency level, an objective measure of surgical performance needs to be achieved^{12–15}. Although several methods of objective measurements have been reviewed, no ideal parameter has been identified in isolation. It is likely that a combination of techniques will be required.

There is also recognition that such techniques may be used not only for assessment during training, but also for accreditation^{9,35}.

Standardising training and identifying training requirements

There are limitations of a traditional apprenticeship model, notably it lacks the objective assessment and also the process can be inefficient particular in terms of time and $cost^{4-}$ ^{7,10,11,15,18}. This challenge is compounded by the implementation of work-hour restrictions (discussed below), to the stage that the adequacy of traditional arthroscopic training during residency has become an increasing concern ^{21,22,62,99}.

If there is national variation in training methods, this also makes it difficult for the JCST to provide a benchmark for trainees to compare their own training progress against their peers (Personal communication with the British Orthopaedic Association (BOA) Simulation Working Group).

Objective assessment may help plot a trainee's learning curve and help determine whether their performance has plateaued. This performance plateau can then be compared with an expert to see if similar competence (as measured by that specific performance parameter) has been achieved. This helps identify those individuals whose performance parameter do not plateau at the level of an expert⁴⁸. This can allow appropriate feedback to the trainee and the implementation of supportive measures, either through extended training time and additional training methods. The current evidence does not support the use of such assessments to be used as a screening tool in identifying individuals who may not possess the technical skills necessary for a career in orthopaedic surgery⁴⁶. Other parameters can be important in identifying surgical performance, including the performance of the entire surgical team, age, and personality traits^{100–102}.

Improving hospital efficiencies

Hospital managers often are in charge of improving theatre utilisation. The effect of training a junior surgeon often results in a longer operative time, which can translate into a longer theatre session. In other words, for the same amount of theatre time, less surgical procedures can be done. This has an effect on patients, surgeons, trainees, surgical and managerial staff.

By allowing trainees to train outside the theatre, trainees will require less operative time to gain the same level of operative skills²⁰. The more efficiently a trainee can perform simulated surgery outside of the theatre setting, the closer the operating theatre time will be to expert-
level efficiency. This minimises the effect on patients, staff and also the finances within the health services³.

Responding to enforced working time directives

Enforced limits on working hours has been introduced internationally^{25,103} aiming to improve patient safety and reduce tiredness amongst doctors and healthcare staff^{23-26} . Although the working time has reduced, this also has had a negative effect on training time^{62,99}. To maintain existing services with a workforce that has hours that are capped means that staff numbers need to increase, and this again has a negative impact on opportunities to develop procedural and technical skills as more trainees are competing for the same procedural training²⁰.

It is believed that for surgical training, the decreased training time in the operating theatres has limited opportunities by two-thirds^{104,105}.

An overview of simulation

The definition of simulation is constantly evolving^{20,32,33,106} and there is no clear definition of orthopaedic simulation. Within the medical field, simulation has been broadly defined as "any technology or process that recreates a contextual background in a way that allows a learner to experience mistakes and receive feedback in a safe environment"¹⁰⁷.

Benefits

The benefits of simulation are well recognised in many specialties including general surgery⁵², emergency medicine¹⁰⁸ and anaesthetics¹⁰⁹. Trainees can concentrate in a controlled environment on skills acquisition^{15,52}. Work is already underway for the 2018 UK orthopaedic specialist curriculum where simulation is likely to feature heavily (Personal communication with the BOA Simulation Working Group).

Limitations

There still remains limited evidence regarding transfer validity of simulation methods into theatre²⁰. It is also accepted that even the most complete and validated training simulators cannot recreate and develop all the different components a surgeon will encounter²⁰. It is critical that trainees and trainers remember that technical ability forms only one component of the skill set required to be an accomplished surgeon^{20,37}. Whilst simulation may facilitate in the challenge of gaining sufficient technical aptitude, it fails to address other essential components: clinical experience, decision making and attitude^{20,37}.

Types of Simulators

Broadly, simulation can be divided into: ¹¹⁰

- 1. cognitive simulation
- 2. skills simulation
 - a. technical skills, such as operative techniques.
 - i. High-fidelity simulation: defined as the ability of the simulation to represent highly realistic performance features, environments and circumstances.

- ii. Low-fidelity simulation: defined as simulation that exemplifies simpler constructs or components of the skill needed to be learned.
- b. non-technical skills, such as communication and leadership skills, not discussed in this thesis.

Cognitive simulation has been used in other scenarios such as elite sport¹¹¹. This type of simulation is one of the newest examples of innovation within surgical training with limited evidence of transference to surgical ability^{20,112}. Cognitive simulation does not focus on the development of physical skills, but focusses on trainees to rehearse stages of the operation without physical movement²⁰. This could be in the individual's mind, or openly discussed with the trainer, or using props or technological aids with the aim to ultimately increases the awareness of potential complications²⁰.

There is evidence that neural pathways that are stimulated from imagined muscle movements can be as effective as physical practice¹¹³. The Association of Surgeons in Training (ASiT) in the United Kingdom has recognised the potential and cognitive simulation courses have been delivered with positive feedback¹¹⁴. If proven to be effective, cognitive simulation could provide a low-cost, easily accessible tool that can be applied to multiple different procedures without the need for specialist equipment²⁰. Rehearsal of procedures is now possible using mobile simulation software applications^{54,115}.

For technical skills simulation, an example of high fidelity simulation would be cadaveric surgery¹¹. A human cadaver would have unparalleled accuracy in anatomy and tactile tissue feedback³⁵. Synthetic models may fall in between high and low fidelity simulation as models can allow increasing detailed anatomical accuracy without the maintenance or ethical issues, but have been criticised for a lack of face validity¹¹⁶. Low fidelity simulation include the basic fracture management courses run using synthetic bones, such as the Arbeitsgemeinschaft für Osteosynthesefragen (AO)⁵⁶.

There is no evidence one is more superior than another in terms of improvement in task performance^{69,117} and it is likely that the type of simulation chosen will be based on cost, support, supervision and access.

A review of the literature has identified different types of technical skills simulation in arthroscopy. These can be summarised as:

- 1. Synthetic
- 2. Computer
- 3. Virtual Reality
- 4. Cadaveric

Synthetic

Artificial models can be split into non-anatomical and anatomical simulation. Non-anatomical models tend to concentrate on task-based training, so that the core principals, such as visualisation, triangulation and tactile feedback can be learned³⁷. They are less suitable for other parts of arthroscopy, such as positioning and also requires supervision and guidance by a senior surgeon³⁷. In arthroscopy, most synthetic models come as a box-trainer which provides a simple, cost-effective and accessible form of training³⁷. Box trainers contain the same core features:

- 1. Outer shell with holes providing access to the inner working area and act as the fulcrum for the camera and intruments/tools.
- 2. Inner working area (varying complexity).
- 3. Equipment: always camera in one hand +/- instrument/tool in the other hand

The inner working area consists of tasks of varying skill levels. An example of a commercially available box trainer is shown in Figure 10.



Figure 10: Commercial box trainer (Arthrobox® by Arthrex, Naples, FL, USA).

The instruments used can be real instruments used within surgery²⁰ or can be alternatives. It is likely that real instruments will have a knock-on effect and increase the overall cost of the simulation, but allow the trainee to develop familiarity with the equipment¹¹⁸. This experience has shown to transfer well into the operating room²⁰. Typically, such box trainers would be dry, however models which simulate water flow in arthroscopy have been tested (wet box simulators)^{61,119–122}.

The introduction of synthetic and plastic bone models have the advantage of anatomical reproducibility without maintenance or ethical issues¹¹⁶. The anatomical models allow the trainee to experience the working area in relation to surrounding structures. The structures may limit the task or be of significant importance where damage could significantly compromise surgical outcome. One such mode is the Alex Shoulder model which has been superseded by the Alex Shoulder Professor III Model¹²³. The models have a natural wear rate, so the more simulated tasks are performed, the increased wear of the anatomical components. These components are often manufacturer-specific and require custom order at increased cost. Similar to the box trainers, there often is no inbuilt mechanism of assessment and so feedback requires supervision¹²⁴.

Computer (motion analysis/haptic feedback) and VR

Computer-based simulators are evolving from the experimental stages with established construct validity in knee and shoulder arthroscopy^{65,73,125–127} The development of less expensive high performance computers combined with advances in graphical and force-feedback technology (haptics) has accelerated this movement ³⁵. Motion analysis, force collision and accurate timing of task performance allows for objective data to be collected and feedback provided^{7,10,11,15,70–73}.

Improved face-validity in simulators both in terms of graphics and equipment has resulted in the high-fidelity computer models being termed virtual reality (VR), although the distinction between the two is not clear. Software required to run VR simulators can be installed on most modern computers, but the input devices are usually very specialised.¹²⁸

Virtual reality simulators have a built-in means of objective assessment, such as task completion times, instrument handling efficiency and motion path analysis^{37,124}. Surgical VR simulation has emerged at the forefront of technologies and processes in the education and training of surgical residents, with high expectations.³

Examples of VR arthroscopy simulators include the Insight Arthro VR (GMV, Madrid, Spain), now known as Simbionix Arthro Mentor (Simbionix Ltd., Aiport City, Israel), Procedicus arthroscopy simulator (Mentice, Göteborg, Sweden), Sheffield Knee Arthroscopy Training System (SKATS; University of Sheffield, Sheffield, England) and Virtual Environment Knee Arthroscopy training system (VE-KATS; Castle Hill Hospital, Hull, UK).

Cadaveric

Human cadavers remain the highest fidelity simulator model¹¹. In addition to superior anatomical and tissue characteristics, fresh frozen cadavers can reproduce conditions during an arthroscopy, such as fluid management, and equipment use⁵⁸. It remains the gold standard teaching platform in instructional courses³⁵.

The limitations of cadaveric use include the risk of disease transmission, high cost, prolonged preparation time and storage leading to inefficiency, variability in anatomy and pathology between cadaveric specimens all of which affect its availability in education centres^{6,10,129,130}.

Perhaps of greatest significance is the discrepancy of evidence relating simulated cadaveric techniques with operating performance in theatre²⁰.

Validation studies into arthroscopic simulation

Validity has been described⁶⁰ as

"the extent to which the assessment tool can accurately measure what it is designed to measure and consists of 5 dimensions:

- 1. construct,
- 2. content,
- 3. predictive/transfer,
- 4. face,
- 5. concurrent."

The definitions of these types of validation has been provided below^{33,60}:

Construct validity: the extent to which a test measures what it sets out to measure. A specific inference of construct validity is the ability to differentiate between subjects of varying levels of experience

Content validity: ensure that the important domains of simulation are covered and the content criteria have the appropriate relevance (eg appropriate surgical skills)

Predictive/Transfer validity: extent of the simulator to enhance trainee's performance with continued use.

Face validity: describes the degree to which the simulator looks like the clinical setting

Concurrent validity: correlation between the results of the simulator and another system or assessment tool on a certain domain

Construct validity studies

The simplest method to perform a construct validity study is to compare a minimum of 2 groups of known skill levels based of real-life arthroscopic experience, such as experts and novices^{19,32,45,131,132}. The performance at arthroscopy is accepted to be different (and not tested) and the study's objective assessment method is assumed to be valid if it reliably identifies individuals belonging to the correct group, i.e. novices perform at novice level, and experts perform at expert level¹⁹. Construct validation is by far the most common method of validation in arthroscopic simulation literature at present.

The majority of the studies show that the simulator tested does show construct validity between novices and experts, but there are some studies which highlight the difficulty in differentiating between the intermediate levels^{7,38,127}. Discrimination between novice and intermediate trainees in surgical education should be paramount^{19,35}

Experienced surgeons have achieved better results in performing VR-simulated arthroscopic tasks compared to novices as measured by one or a combination of time to complete a procedure, computer-assessed motion analysis compared with a predetermined optimum and number of probe collisions ^{7,10,37,38,73,118,133}.

Table 1 summarises the evidence by simulator category type (synthetic, computer, VR, cadaveric).

	Construct validity shown?		
	YES	NO	
Synthetic	63,73,118,134,135		
Motion/haptic	7,10,37,45,65,73,126,127		
VR	7,10,19,32,37,38,45,65,73,118,121,126,127,131–133,135–139		
Cadaveric			

 Table 1: Summary of construct validity evidence by simulator category.

Content validity studies

The aim of content validity is to ensure the important domains have appropriate relevance, and for arthroscopy this is appropriate surgical skills. It is not surprising that most studies looking at content validity have involved the high fidelity simulators which are more life-like and have shown appropriate relevance.

Table 2 summarises the evidence by simulator category type (synthetic, computer, VR, cadaveric).

	Content validity shown?		
	YES	NO	
Synthetic			
Motion/haptic	121		
VR	38,71,140	110	
Cadaveric	137,139		

 Table 2: Summary of content validity evidence by simulator category.

Predictive/transfer validity studies

Predictive or transfer validity aims to investigate how a trainee's performance changes with continued use. This can be measured in 2 ways:

- 1. effect on performance on the simulator,
- 2. skills transfer into theatre

The difficulties to measure performance have already been discussed, and so objective measures form the basis of this type of study. The majority use objective measures such as motion tracking, collision force and time taken to complete performance. Motion tracking can be used within a virtual environment (VR simulators) or during the use of synthetic simulation. VR simulators can measure collision data such as force and depth of collision alongside parameters of basic arthroscopic skills, such as navigation and triangulation (camera and instrument motion paths).

The majority of studies show that with repeated practice, individuals perform better on the performance task being assessed. However, some studies have shown that performance did not improve with repeated practice^{32,41,44,133,136,140}. A possible explanation for the findings is that the individual may not have the aptitude to develop these skills. Another interesting point raised in one study showed that although developing skills in one particular anatomical environment, this may not translate into another simulated environment, for example training on a shoulder arthroscopic simulator may not increase performance on a knee arthroscopic simulator⁴⁴.

There is quite a heterogeneity of results when it comes to results of studies looking at transfer of skills into theatre. Primarily the problem lies in measuring intra-operative surgical performance. A possible explanation for the disparity in results from the different studies may be that the skills taught by a simulator may be too specific for the procedure itself⁴¹. The difficulties of measuring intra-operative performance have been discussed before, and as a result the majority of studies use a form of global rating scales to help objectify surgical performance.

Table 3 summarises the evidence of effect on performance by simulator category type (synthetic, computer, VR, cadaveric).

Table 4 summarises the evidence of skills transfer into theatre by simulator category type (synthetic, computer, VR, cadaveric).

	Predictive/transfer validity for skills on simulator?	
	YES	NO
Synthetic	20,37,43,45,134	44
Motion/haptic	37,45,73,121,136	
VR	3,10,32,38,43,63,70,133,136,140,141	41,44,71,135
Cadaveric		

Table 3: Summary of predictive/transfer validity evidence by simulator category for skills
 learned on the simulator.

	Predictive/transfer validity for skills in operating room?	
	YES	NO
Synthetic	20	
Motion/haptic	37,65,73	
VR	7,37,38,46,65,135,137,142	19,32,41,136,143
Cadaveric		20

Table 4: Summary of predictive/transfer validity evidence by simulator category for skills
 learned on the simulator.

Face validity studies

Face validity refers to ability of the simulator to look like the clinical setting. There are 2 key components for arthroscopic simulation – external face validity and internal face validity. External face validity refers to how the simulator looks on the outside and how it represents the external anatomy of the joint. The internal face validity refers to the visual information displayed on the screen during arthroscopy. This maybe a tangible visualisation, such as in synthetic models or maybe a virtual representation like in VR simulators.

There is no objective method of measuring face validity, but the most common method is along the principle of the Likert scale¹⁴⁴. This is a scale between 1 and 5 (or 10) and the user rates the face validity of the simulator. It attempts to objectify the assessment but has little in the way of an objective criteria defining the anchor points within the scale. There is no consensus of when a simulator achieves face validity and it is difficult to compare studies.

In general, most simulators had some external face validity, however the internal face validity was highest in the VR and cadaveric simulators. It is also worth noting that cadaveric simulation in particular can also allow simulation of fluid management, the light source, and shavers, the usefulness of which should not be underestimated⁵⁸.

Table 5 summarises the evidence by simulator category type (synthetic, computer, VR, cadaveric).

	Face validity shown?	
	YES	NO
Synthetic	118	145
Motion/haptic	122	
VR	38,121,122,133,146	132
Cadaveric	58,145	

Table 5: Summary of face validity evidence by simulator category.

Concurrent validity studies

Concurrent validity investigates the use of a new simulator against an established validated simulator. The most common method is to use a simulator that has achieved construct validity and then test for concurrent validity.

Positive correlations have been found between:

- 1. VR and cadaveric simulation^{70,147}.
- 2. Motion tracking (computer) and synthetic model simulation³⁷.

Interestingly when comparing haptic and non-haptic features on a VR simulator, no difference in performance was noted suggesting that the haptic feature did not add as much effect on performance as previously envisaged⁵³.

Practical pressures limiting uptake of simulation

The advantages of simulation in acquiring arthroscopic skills have been discussed, however the practical application of these training techniques have limited its widespread use.

Synthetic models lack the objective parameters of performance and hence rely on supervision from senior surgeons for feedback. This could be in real time or recorded and played back at a later time. Performance can then be assessed using tools described earlier. The costs associated with this include purchasing/leasing costs and replacement of parts. Time for senior surgeon's time to assess and deliver feedback also needs to be factored in.

Building on this, technology such as motion analysis and collision forces allows more objective feedback. Computer models are highly objective since they use internal metric calculations and are assessor independent. They have few ethical considerations but have generally been costly, require fixed training facilities, and need specialised technical support¹⁰⁵. The objective measures recorded have been validated for basic arthroscopic tasks only, which may limit its ultimate use^{35,37}.

VR simulation has now adopted much of the technology from computer models and with more realistic input devices and visual graphics, represents the highest fidelity non-cadaveric simulator. It does come at a very high price (approximately US \$100,000 from personal communication), often making it cost-prohibitive for most institutions. Such high cost investments are subsequently protected from out of hours' open access training, principally out of fear of inadvertent damage. This limits wide-spread access to trainees.

Cadaveric simulation represents the gold standard in arthroscopic simulation. However, the limitations include risk of disease transmission, cost, preparation time, storage and variability anatomy and pathology. This means that this is cost prohibitive and makes it difficult to standardise training. Assessment relies again on non-objective parameters such as GRS or checklists and subsequent feedback will require time from senior surgeons.

Need for ASATs (Identification of Necessity for this study)

It is clear from the literature review that a measure of objective performance is required to form the basis of performance. All the simulators reviewed that truly measure objective parameters (such as motion analysis and force measurement) have high costs and restrictive access. As has been seen, GRS or checklists have attempted to objectify performance but are not truly measuring objective parameters.

To address these limitations, MJG developed and funded the Arthroscopic Skills Acquisition Tools (ASATs) prototype. This serves to provide objective parameters to measure performance, and be widely accessible at low cost to the end-user.

Introduction to the ASATS

The ASATs has been designed as a low cost and easily accessible training and assessment tool for arthroscopy surgical trainees. To minimise cost and maximise access, a decision was taken to limit the user interface to those available via a standard PC (keyboard and/or mouse). The decision to limit the user interface hardware in this way meant that face validity was likely to be low.

Objective feedback identified from the literature can be based on motion tracking, haptic/force measures, or surrogate markers of visualisation and triangulation (such as time and look downs).

The ASATs had to be designed using software that was widely accessible and free. Adobe Actionscript Technology (<u>http://www.adobe.com</u>) was chosen, as at the time it was widely accessible, free and available on internet-enabled computers and can be embedded into websites. For motion tracking, it was decided to use 2-dimensional mouse movement.

Haptic/force measurements could not be mimicked using simple hardware. Instead the concept of error-based measurements was conceived. In arthroscopy, a large force through an area that is pressure-sensitive (e.g. cartilage) would result in damage. This would be an error. Simply put, the user would have ignored the haptic feedback and pursued through this feedback into an area which they should not have been. The decision was made that as the haptic feedback could not be reproduced, the same concept in visual format would be made. This meant that there was an area of the screen which represented the working area. By ignoring the working area and going into the "out of working area" you are ignoring the visual feedback and causing damage. Although not exactly the same, it created an "error-based" measurement which could be measured on the ASATs.

Surrogate markers of visualisation and triangulation included time to complete the task. This could be easily incorporated into the ASATs. However, the dangers of using this measure alone are evident, the fastest surgeon does not necessarily mean they are the best or most careful!

In summary, the ASATs priority objective measures were time-based, motion-based and errorbased. Motion-based was represented by the distance moved by the mouse pointer, rather than hand motion. With these objectives clearly stated, 3 ASATs were designed. A mouse pointer is displayed in all the ASATs, and this resembles the centre of the arthroscopic camera view. The layouts of the tools are designed to be consistent (Figure 11): a white working area represents the joint space and the surrounding blue area represents the area outside the joint. Crossing the mouse pointer from the white area into the blue area is designed to serve as visual feedback that the camera is causing damage in the absence of haptic feedback.



Figure 11: Layout of the ASATs.

The "track box" ASAT was designed to test steady, accurate tracking movements within a fixed time. The "click points" ASAT was designed to test small but fast and accurate movements between multiple fixed points.

A third ASAT ("shape match") builds on the "click points" ASAT and requires lifting and releasing shapes within the working area. This requires users to move shapes from one part of the "joint" to another marked area of the "joint" by holding the shape with the left mouse button and dropping the shape by releasing the button. The task is complete once all the shapes have been moved into their corresponding silhouettes.

A further three ASATs were then designed with the input controls inverted ("track box", "click points", and "shape match", all with inverted controls). This mimics the inverted hand-eye controls experienced with arthroscopy. These tools formed the final six ASATs (Table 6).

ASAT	Objectives	Skills required to complete task
		well
Track Box		Hand-eye coordination Steady, accurate movements
Track Box with Inverted Controls	Keep the mouse pointer over the moving box	As above and Ability to invert coordination skills
Click Points Click Points with Inverted Controls	Move the mouse pointer over the static point, and left click. The point will disappear and reappear somewhere else. Repeat until all points have been clicked.	Hand-eye coordination Reaction speed Small, fast, accurate movements As above and Ability to invert coordination skills
Shape Match Shape Match with Inverted	Move the mouse pointer over the static blue shape, and hold down left click button to pick up the shape. Move the pointer and shape into the matching grey shape and then release	Hand-eye coordination Steady, accurate movements Reaction speed Small, fast, accurate movements As above and
Controls	left click button.	Ability to invert coordination skills

Table 6. Summary of the prototype Arthroscopic Skills Acquisition Tools (ASATs). "Shape

 match with Inverted Controls" was used as the assessment ASAT in this correlation study.

Users can perform each ASAT with the scope view, two-handed input, or obstructions options either on or off resulting in 30 variations of the tools. For the purposes of this study, the advanced options were standardised (open view = scope view off, single hand input and obstructions off) and so the advanced functionality are not discussed further. The input devices for the ASATs are the mouse (single hand).

Each time any of the ASATs are accessed, the motion path of the box or the positions of the circles and shapes are random, which ensures that users develop skills rather than simply memorise the paths and positions of the box and points.

The objective data measured by the ASATs is saved to an online database to allow subsequent use on a different computer. The ASATs are currently embedded in a database-driven website, and the online ASATs homepage requires users to register for a username by completing a demographic questionnaire. All interactions with the ASATs occur in real-time. All performances and attempts on each tool are saved according to the username.

Using the Adobe Actionscript software, the following objective parameters could be measured.

	ASATs performance measures		
Time-based	1. Time taken to complete the task		
	A quicker time suggests the task was completed quicker.		
Distance-based	 Distance total – the distance the mouse moved in order to complete the whole task 		
	A larger distance total suggests the mouse moved more to complete the whole task.		
	 Minimum distance* - the minimum theoretical distance the mouse could be moved to complete the whole task (computer calculated) 		
	A larger minimum distance suggests the shapes were further apart at the start of the task.		
	 Delta distance** - calculated value by subtracting the "minimum distance" from the "distance total". This gives the excess movement the user required to complete the task. 		
	A higher delta distance suggests the user had excessive movement to complete the task.		
Error-based	 Out-time – percentage of task time the mouse pointer not in the working area 		
	A high out-time suggests the user spent more time ignoring visual clues and was in the non-working area of the task.		
	6. Out-number – number of times the mouse pointer crossed into the non-working area (ignoring the visual feedback).		

A high out-number suggests the user ignoring visual clues and was
crossing into the non-working area of the task. Combined with out-
time, a high out-time and out-number would suggest someone who
regularly making errors and not quickly correcting.
 On-box – percentage of task time the mouse pointer stayed over the shapes of interest.
A high on-box percentage suggests the user was accurate in their mouse movements.
 On-work – percentage of task time the mouse pointer stayed in the working area.
A high on-work percentage suggests that the user was not as
accurate as a high on-box percentage, but was not making the same
level of mistakes as someone with a high out-time.
 Drop times – number of times the shape was dropped from the mouse pointer.
A high drop time number means the user was unable to hold the shape and move, i.e. do 2 things at once.

Table 7: ASATs performance measures. * = not related to user performance and so was not used for statistical analysis. ** = not objectively measured but calculated from 2 measures that were objectively measured, this parameter was used for statistical analysis.

This thesis aims to demonstrate the value of the ASATs by investigating the concurrent validity with a simulator which has been validated to shoulder arthroscopy. The simulator chosen to validate against was the Insight Artho VR system (GMV, Madrid, Spain). This VR simulator has been shown to have construct, content, face, transfer validity, as well as concurrent validity to arthroscopic performance in cadavers^{70,135,148}. An introduction to this VR simulator is made below.

Introduction to the Insight Arthro VR Simulator

The Insight Arthro VR uses a life-size plastic shoulder with pre-defined portals. The VR simulator can allow the user to perform multiple tasks. Some tasks can be performed with the camera only and others with both a camera and an instrument. Simulations can be performed in either "beach chair" or "lateral decubitus" positions. This gives the simulator excellent external face validity. Each task had an "low", "intermediate" and "high" difficulty setting.

The tasks available on the simulator can be broadly divided into tasks within a non-anatomical environment or an anatomical environment. Non anatomical environment tasks are designed to develop basic hand-eye coordination skills. The anatomical environment has VR graphics which represents a joint (either shoulder or knee), thereby giving the VR simulator internal face validity. The tasks in the anatomical environment are designed to improve procedural skills (transfer validity).

The input devices consist of two robotic arms that provide haptic feedback to the user. Four tasks where chosen (1 non anatomical and 3 anatomical), and this is discussed in more detailed later.

Figure 12 shows a photo of the Insight Arthro VR (now known as Simbionix Arthro Mentor).



Figure 12: Insight Arthro VR (GMV, Madrid, Spain), now known as Simbionix Arthro Mentor (Simbionix Ltd., Aiport City, Israel).

The VR can record the following objective performance measures:

	VR performance measures
Time-based	1. Time taken to complete the task
	A quicker time suggests the task was completed quicker.
Distance-based	 Camera Covered distance – motion analysis recorded by the robotic input arms.
	A large camera covered distance suggests the user moved the robotic arm representing the camera through a larger distance to complete the task.
	3. Probe covered distance – motion analysis recorded by the robotic input arms.
	A large probe covered distance suggests the user moved the robotic arm representing the probe/instrument through a larger distance to complete the task.
Error-based	 Camera roughness – motion analysis recorded by the robotic input arm when the user is given increased haptic feedback.
	A large camera roughness suggests the user moved the robotic arm representing the camera in the direction of increased haptic feedback, and did not correct and the increased haptic feedback persisted. This represents a collision and/or damage of structures.
	5. Probe roughness – motion analysis recorded by the robotic input arm when the user is given increased haptic feedback.
	A large probe roughness suggests the user moved the robotic arm representing the probe/instrument in the direction of increased haptic feedback, and did not correct and the increased haptic feedback persisted. This represents a collision and/or damage of structures.

 Table 8: VR performance measures.

Thesis aims

The aim of this thesis is to provide the initial validation of the Arthroscopic Skills Acquisition Tools through a concurrent validation study with the Insight Arthro VR simulator.

	Performance measures on		Correlation
	ASATs	VR	
Time-based	Time taken	Time taken	Positive
Distance-based	Distance total	Camera Covered distance	Positive
	Distance total	Probe covered distance	Positive
	Delta distance	Camera Covered distance	Positive
	Delta distance	Probe covered distance	Positive
Error-based	Out-time	Camera roughness	Positive
	Out-time	Probe roughness	Positive
	Out-number	Camera roughness	Positive
	Out-number	Probe roughness	Positive
	On-box	Camera roughness	Negative
	On-box	Probe roughness	Negative
	On-work	Camera roughness	Negative
	On-work	Probe roughness	Negative
	Drop times	Camera roughness	Positive
	Drop times	Probe roughness	Positive

If concurrent validation were to be achieved, the expected correlations are as follows:

Table 9: Expected correlations between the "shape match with inverted controls" ASAT andVR tasks.

Chapter 3 – Methodology

Introduction

The study subjects were novices in the technical skills of minimal invasive surgery, such as laparoscopy or arthroscopy. Inclusion and exclusion criteria, enrolment and participant information is given later on in this section. The participants were shown familiarisation videos of the ASATs and VR simulator. They were also given some time to familiarise on 5 ASATs before being tested on the 6th ASAT (shape match with inverted controls). Full details are in the procedure section.

A correlation analysis between objective parameters between the ASAT (shape match with inverted controls) and VR tasks were performed, and the results presented.

Research Design

This was an ethically approved, prospective study involving 49 medical student volunteers who met the inclusion criteria. A priori power analysis showed a total sample size of 33 subjects would be sufficiently powered to show a significant correlation. All participants underwent a standardised session. All data was collected in a single session at a single location. Correlation between the objective performance measures from the ASATs and the VR simulator were investigated using statistical software and the results presented in the next section.

Gaining Ethical Approval

National Health Service (NHS) North of England provided organisational approval and North Western Deanery provided Sponsor's approval on 17th September 2012.

This prospective study involved participants who were healthy volunteers. University of Salford approved an ethics application (HSCR12/67) on 19th November 2012. Wrightington, Wigan and Leigh NHS Trust's Research and Development Department provided email confirmation on 20th September 2011 that no NHS ethics application was required as no NHS patients were involved in this study.

Participants

Participants in the study were medical students for 3 specific reasons.

- 1. It would be expected that some knowledge of anatomy and indications for surgery would be realised by the participants.
- 2. Medical students were more likely to have been exposed to arthroscopic or minimally invasive surgery through videos or live operating theatre lists, but they were unlikely to have had any specific arthroscopic or minimally invasive surgery training.
- 3. At this stage of training, medical students were unlikely to have committed to a specialty, and so skills assessment could be made across differing specialty ambitions.

Inclusion Criteria

- 18 years or older.
- Able to provide consent to take part in the study.

Exclusion Criteria

- Any participant that previously received practical training or performed previous minimal invasive surgery, such as laparoscopy or arthroscopy.
- Were younger than 18 years old
- Unable to provide consent.

Recruitment

Study and participant information sheets (see appendix) were distributed through email distribution lists and society events held by the University of Manchester Medical School and Manchester's Scalpel Surgical Society. Information was also displayed on their relevant websites' noticeboards.

Participants were given the opportunity to discuss this study face-to-face, over the phone or via email.

Signing up to a study session

If students wished to take part, they were directed to a website to sign up for a 1-hour study session. The website contained information and a sign up form, powered by Google® and Appointy®. This displayed real-time session availability and allowed students to sign up for a session and receive confirmation immediately. It also sent out reminders prior to the session to improve session utilisation. All sessions were conducted at the Bridgewater Hospital, 120 Princess Road, Manchester, M15 5AT. All suggestions were run at no cost to the participant and no reimbursement for time or travel was offered.

Gaining consent

Each participant was given a participant information pack to review. This included an introduction to the study and written information and photographs of the ASATs and VR. Each ASAT and VR task objective was clearly explained. Once the material was reviewed, each participant was asked to confirm consent to participate in the study. Written consent was taken, and a participant unique identifier number (UIN) assigned.

Confidentiality

The UIN is used to identify individual's performance anonymously on both the VR simulator database and the ASATs database. To register for the ASATs, participants are required to fill an online registration form that includes a demographic questionnaire.

Procedure

Participant information sheets, descriptions and objectives of the VR simulator and the ASATs were printed and held in an A4 folder. Participants were allowed to review this as many times as they wished. The participants were then shown a video demonstration of the ASATs followed by a video demonstration of the VR system. There was an opportunity for participants to ask questions before performing the assessment tasks.

Assessments

Participants performed 5 ASATs tasks to familiarise themselves with the ASATs followed by a 6th final ASAT used for assessment. Following successful completion of the ASATs, participants progressed onto the VR simulator to perform 4 tasks.

ASATs tasks

The ASATs were performed on a 17" screen-size, internet-connected laptop computer using an external USB optical mouse with a standardised mouse mat available. The 4 ASATs tasks (and the options chosen) were performed in the following order:

- 1. "track box" with normal controls, "open view", "single hand control", "no obstructions".
- 2. "track box" with inverted controls, "open view", "single hand control", "no obstructions".
- "click points" with normal controls, "open view", "single hand control", "no obstructions".
- 4. "click points" with inverted controls, "open view", "single hand control", "no obstructions".
- 5. "shape match" with normal controls, "open view", "single hand control", "no obstructions".
- 6. "shape match" with inverted controls, "open view", "single hand control", "no obstructions".

VR tasks

For this study, four tasks at "low difficulty level" were chosen and participants performed them in the following order:

- 1. "operating room" (non-anatomical), "camera use only"
- 2. "locate and palpate" (anatomical shoulder), "camera and instrument use".
- 3. "visualise" (anatomical shoulder), "camera use only".
- 4. "pendulum" (anatomical shoulder), "camera and instrument use".

Data Handling

Data Collection and Storage

Data was prospectively collected during a single session for each student. The data from the first attempt (baseline performance) on "shape match with inverted controls" ASAT was automatically saved to an online database (ASATs). The performance measures data on the four

tasks performed on the VR was collected and automatically saved to a local database based on the simulator computer (VR).

Data Retrieval

The ASATs has a download function, and the data collected is downloaded in a spreadsheet. The VR simulator has an export function and the data collected is presented in a spreadsheet. This is saved onto a USB hard drive and then transferred to a computer for statistical analysis.

Once data from both simulators are available, they are amalgamated into a single database, using the UIN as the sole user identifier.

Data protection

The amalgamated, password protected, anonymised database was stored on MJG's computer. No one else had access to the computer or its passwords. All data is anonymised and the unique identifier will be an ID given to participants. The data will be stored in encrypted form and in a locked office.

Statistical Analysis

All analyses were performed using R, version 2.15.2 (R Foundation for Statistical Computing, http://www.rproject.org). Each of the VR measures were individually analysed with respect to the ASAT measures using Pearson's correlation coefficients. A priori power analysis showed a total sample size of 33 subjects would be sufficiently powered to show a significant correlation, assuming an r^2 value of at least 0.2, a significance level of 0.05, and a power of 80%. Assuming 15% attrition of subjects during the study, a target total sample size of 38 subjects was deemed sufficient.

Chapter 4: Results

All 49 participants met the eligibility criteria and completed the study session successfully. The raw data collected is presented in the Appendix.

Basic demographics of participants taking part is summarised in Table 10 below.

Mean age	21.6 years (+/- 2.2 years)
Male : Female	32 : 17 (65.3% : 34.7%)
Left : Right hand dominance	1 : 46 (2% : 93.9%) [* 2 ambidextrous]

Table 10: Basic demographics of participants.

Tables 11 through to Table 14 show the correlations between the ASATs measures (row headers) and the VR measures (column headers) for the VR tasks "*operating room*", "*palpate*", "*visualise*" and "*pendulum*" respectively.

A p value < 0.05 suggests that the correlation observed reached significance. Pearson correlation (r) shows the type of correlation:

- r = a positive value suggests the 2 measures have a positive correlation (an increase in one measure would increase the other measure).
- r = a negative value suggests the 2 measures have a negative correlation (an increase in one measure would decrease the other measure).

The r value range is from +1 to -1, with +1 being the strongest positive correlation, 0 being no correlation and -1 being the strongest negative correlation. The 95% confidence intervals are given alongside the Pearson's correlation in parenthesis.

An overview of all the results shows that for:

- Operating Room VR task, 16 correlations were analysed.
- *Palpate* VR task 40 correlations were analysed.
- Visualise VR task 24 correlations were analysed.
- Pendulum VR task 40 correlation were analysed.

Operating Room VR task

7/16 (44%) correlations achieved significance (table cells highlighted in yellow), with camera covered distance (VR motion analysis) showing the strongest correlations (the r values being further away from 0). The motion analysis in the ASATs (delta distance) correlated the strongest with the camera covered distance suggested the motion analysis parameter in both systems shows concurrent validity.

Palpate VR task

12/40 (30%) correlations achieved significance (table cells highlighted in yellow), with the VR time-based and distance-based (motion analysis) measures showing the strongest correlations with ASATs time-based and distance-based measures. This suggests the time-based and motion analysis parameters in both systems shows concurrent validity.

Errors-based measures (out-number) in the ASATs showed a significant but weaker correlation with the VR time and distance-based measures The error-based measure on the VR is a measure of roughness (haptic feedback). No haptic feedback is present on the ASATs. It is not surprising that no ASAT measures correlated with the VR error-based measures. This suggests that the ASATs measure of errors does not concur in measuring errors in the same way as the VR for this task. The ASATs does however predict that those making these errors will take a longer time and have a more hand movement (motion analysis).

Visualise VR task

9/24 (38%) correlations achieved significance (table cells highlighted in yellow), with the VR time-based and distance-based (motion analysis) measures showing the strongest correlations with ASATs time-based and distance based measures. This suggests the time-based and motion analysis parameters in both systems shows concurrent validity.

Errors-based measures (out-number and drop times) in the ASATs showed a significant but weaker correlation with the VR time and distance based measures. Again, it is not surprising that no ASAT measures correlated with the VR error-based measures. This suggests that the ASATs measure of errors does not concur in measuring errors in the same way as the VR for

this task. Again, the ASATs does however predict that those making these errors will take a longer time and have a more hand movement (motion analysis).

Pendulum VR task

17/40 (43%) correlations achieved significance (table cells highlighted in yellow), with yet again the VR time-based and distance-based (motion analysis) measures showing the strongest correlations with ASATs time-based and distance based measures. This suggests the time-based and motion analysis parameters in both systems shows concurrent validity.

Errors-based measures (out-number and drop times) in the ASATs showed a significant but weaker correlation with the VR time and distance based measures. Errors-based measures (outtime and on work) showed a significant but weaker correlation with the VR error-based measures (probe roughness). This suggests that the ASATs measure of errors does not concur in measuring errors in the same way as the VR for this task. Again, the ASATs does predict that those making these errors will take a longer time and have a more hand movement (motion analysis). The weak, but significant correlation between ASATs out-time and on-work with VR probe roughness will need further investigation as this was not observed in any other VR task.

ASATs outcome measures

Comparing like-to-like (i.e.ASATs time-based with VR time-based, distance-based with distance-based and errors-based with error-based), the ASATs outcome measures which had the best correlation with same category of VR assessment were:

- 1. Distance-based (delta distance and distance total) with VR camera and instrument covered distance 12/12 (100%).
- 2. Time-based with VR time taken in 3/4 (75%) the VR tasks: *visualise* (r = 0.381, p = 0.007), *locate and palpate* (r = 0.596, p < 0.001), and *pendulum* (r = 0.646, p < 0.001).

Error-based measures on the ASATs (out-time, out-number, on-box, on-work, drop times) significantly correlated with VR error-based measures (camera roughness and instrument roughness) on 16 occasions out of 55 analyses (29%). Out of the 16 significant correlations, 8 of them were "out-number". Specifically looking at this ASAT outcome measure, "out-number" did not significantly correlate with any VR error-based measure. It correlated on 8 occasions out of 10 for either time- or distance-based VR parameters. This raises the possibility that even though the "out-number" was designed to be an ASAT error-based performance

parameter, it actually was much better performing as a predictor of performance of VR timeand distance-based measures. In other words, the higher the out-number in the ASATs (the more times you have out of the working area), the longer the time you will take to complete the VR task and also the motion path will be longer on the VR. This is an indirect measure that the user did not perform the task with well controlled movement.
	Time	Camera Cov Dist
Time Taken	p = 0.114	p = 0.144
	r = 0.229	r = 0.212
	(-0.056, 0.479)	(-0.074, 0.465)
Out Time	p = 0.214	p = 0.044
	r = 0.181	r = 0.289
	(-0.106, 0.440)	(0.008, 0.527)
Out Number	p = 0.259	p = 0.047
	r = 0.164	r = 0.285
	(-0.123, 0.426)	(0.004, 0.524)
On Box	p = 0.788	p = 0.369
	r = -0.040	r = -0.131
	(-0.317, 0.244)	(-0.398, 0.156)
On Work	p = 0.214	p = 0.044
	r = -0.181	r = -0.289
	(-0.440, 0.106)	(-0.527, -0.008)
Drop Times	p = 0.115	p = 0.225
	r = 0.228	r = 0.177
	(-0.057, 0.478)	(-0.110, 0.436)
Distance Total	p = 0.015	p = 0.003
	r = 0.347	r = 0.417
	(0.073, 0.572)	(0.154, 0.625)
Delta Distance	p = 0.014	p = 0.003
	r = 0.351	r = 0.421
	(0.077, 0.575)	(0.159, 0.628)

Table 11: Summary of correlations between the "shape match with inverted controls" ASATand the "operating room" VR task. Cov Dist = Covered Distance.

	Time	Camera	Camera	Probe	Probe
		Cov Dist	Roughness	Cov Dist	Roughness
Time	p < 0.001	p < 0.001	p = 0.073	p < 0.001	p = 0.046
Taken	r =0.595	r = 0.571	r = 0.259	r = 0.634	r = 0.286
	(0.377,	(0.344,	(-0.024,	(0.429,	(0.006,
	0.751)	0.734)	0.503)	0.777)	0.525)
Out Time	p = 0.149	p = 0.079	p = 0.289	p = 0.288	p = 0.463
	r = 0.209	r = 0.253	r = -0.155	r = 0.155	r = -0.107
	(-0.077,	(-0.030,	(-0.418,	(-0.132,	(-0.377,
	0.463)	0.499)	0.132)	0.418)	0.179)
Out	p = 0.005	p < 0.001	p = 0.909	p = 0.019	p = 0.777
Number	r = 0.392	r = 0.465	r = -0.017	r = 0.334	r = 0.042
	(0.125,	(0.212,	(-0.297,	(0.058,	(-0.243,
	0.607)	0.660)	0.266)	0.562)	0.320)
On Box	p = 0.738	p = 0.844	p = 0.121	p = 0.825	p = 0.164
	r = 0.050	r = 0.029	r = 0.224	r = -0.033	r = 0.202
	(-0.235,	(-0.254,	(-0.061,	(-0.311,	(-0.084,
	0.326)	0.308)	0.476)	0.251)	0.457)
On Work	p = 0.149	p = 0.079	p = 0.289	p = 0.288	p = 0.463
	r = -0.209	r = -0.253	r = 0.155	r = -0.155	r = 0.107
	(-0.463,	(-0.500,	(-0.132,	(-0.418,	(-0.179,
	0.077)	0.030)	0.418)	0.132	0.377)
Drop	p = 0.104	p = 0.126	p = 0.403	p = 0.064	p = 0.996
Times	r = 0.235	r = 0.221	r = 0.122	r = 0.267	r = 0.001
	(-0.050,	(-0.064,	(-0.165,	(-0.015,	(-0.281,
	0.484)	0.473)	0.390)	0.510)	0.282)
Distance	p < 0.001	p < 0.001	p = 0.989	p < 0.001	p = 0.354
Total	r = 0.650	r = 0.666	r = -0.002	r = 0.663	r = 0.135
	(0.450,	(0.473,	(-0.283,	(0.469,	(-0.152,
	0.787)	0.798)	0.279)	0.796)	0.401)
Delta	p < 0.001	p < 0.001	p = 0.996	p < 0.001	p = 0.339
Distance	r = 0.652	r = 0.667	r = 0.001	r = 0.664	r = 0.140

(0.453,	(0.475,	(-0.281,	(0.471,	(-0.148,
0.788)	0.798)	0.282)	0.797)	0.405)

Table 12: Summary of correlations between the "shape match with inverted controls" ASATand the "Palpate" VR task. Cov Dist = Covered Distance.

	Time	Camera Cov	Camera
		Dist	Roughness
Time Taken	p = 0.007	p = 0.003	p = 0.121
	r = 0.381	r = 0.413	r =0.224
	(0.112, 0.598)	(0.150, 0.622)	(-0.061, 0.476)
Out Time	p = 0.150	p = 0.329	p = 0.966
	r = 0.209	r = 0.143	r = -0.006
	(-0.077, 0.463)	(-0.145, 0.407)	(-0.287, 0.275)
Out Number	p = 0.088	p = 0.092	p = 0.196
	r = 0.246	r = 0.243	r = 0.188
	(-0.037, 0.493)	(-0.041, 0.491)	(-0.099, 0.446)
On Box	p = 0.150	p = 0.085	p = 0.661
	r = -0.209	r = -0.249	r = 0.064
	(-0.463, 0.077)	(-0.495, 0.035)	(-0.221, 0.339)
On Work	p = 0.150	p = 0.329	p = 0.966
	r =-0.209	r =-0.143	r = 0.006
	(-0.463, 0.077)	(-0.407, 0.145)	(-0.275, 0.287)
Drop Times	p = 0.039	p = 0.047	p = 0.158
	r = 0.296	r = 0.286	r = 0.205
	(0.0157, 0.533)	(0.005, 0.525)	(-0.081, 0.460)
Distance Total	p = 0.003	p = 0.005	p = 0.245
	r = 0.411	r = 0.396	r = 0.170
	(0.146, 0.620)	(0.129, 0.609)	(-0.117, 0.430)
Delta Distance	p = 0.003	p = 0.004	p = 0.240
	r = 0.415	r = 0.400	r = 0.171
	(0.152, 0.624)	(0.134, 0.612)	(-0.116, 0.432)

Table 13: Summary of correlations between the "shape match with inverted controls" ASATand the "Visualise" VR task. Cov Dist = Covered Distance.

	Time	Camera	Camera	Probe	Probe
		Cov Dist	Roughness	Cov Dist	Roughness
Time	p < 0.001	p < 0.001	p = 0.552	p < 0.001	p = 0.113
Taken	r = 0.646	r = 0.663	r = 0.087	r = 0.660	r = 0.229
	(0.446,	(0.470,	(-0.199,	(0.465,	(-0.056,
	0.785)	0.796)	0.360)	0.794)	0.480)
Out Time	p = 0.164	p = 0.152	p = 0.349	p = 0.416	p = 0.041
	r = 0.202	r = 0.208	r = 0.137	r = 0.119	r = 0.293
	(-0.084,	(-0.078,	(-0.150,	(-0.168,	(0.013,
	0.457)	0.462)	0.403)	0.387)	0.531)
Out	p = 0.008	p = 0.012	p = 0.420	p = 0.042	p = 0.071
Number	r =0.378	r = 0.356	r = 0.118	r = 0.292	r = 0.260
	(0.108,	(0.082,	(-0.169,	(0.012,	(-0.023,
	0.596)	0.579)	0.386)	0.530)	0.504)
On Box	p = 0.476	p = 0.560	p = 0.970	p = 0.429	p = 0.803
	r = 0.104	r = 0.085	r = -0.005	r = 0.116	r = -0.037
	(-0.182,	(-0.201,	(-0.286,	(-0.171,	(-0.315,
	0.375)	0.358)	0.276)	0.384)	0.247)
On Work	p = 0.164	p = 0.152	p = 0.349	p = 0.416	p = 0.041
	r = -0.202	r = -0.208	r = -0.137	r = -0.119	r =-0.293
	(-0.457,	(-0.462,	(-0.403,	(-0.387,	(-0.531, -
	0.084)	0.078)	0.150)	0.168)	0.013)
Drop	p = 0.003	p < 0.001	p = 0.539	p < 0.001	p = 0.597
Times	r = 0.415	r = 0.5403	r = -0.090	r = 0.484	r = 0.077
	(0.152,	(0.306,	(-0.362,	(0.234,	(-0.208,
	0.623)	0.713)	0.196)	0.673)	0.351)
Distance	p < 0.001	p < 0.001	p = 0.340	p < 0.001	p = 0.063
Total	r = 0.613	r = 0.540	r =0.139	r = 0.538	r = 0.268
	(0.401,	(0.306,	(-0.148,	(0.302,	(-0.015,
	0.763)	0.713)	0.405)	0.712)	0.510)
Delta	p < 0.001	p < 0.001	p = 0.318	p < 0.001	p = 0.064
Distance	r = 0.615	r = 0.538	r = 0.146	r = 0.539	r = 0.267

(0.404,	(0.302,	(-0.141,	(0.304,	(-0.019,
0.764)	0.711)	0.410)	0.713)	0.510)

Table 14: Summary of correlations between the "shape match with inverted controls" ASATand the "Pendulum" VR task. Cov Dist = Covered Distance.

Based on the thesis aims,	the table of correlation	can be summarised as below:
---------------------------	--------------------------	-----------------------------

	Performa	nce measures on	Correlation
	ASATs	VR	
Time-based	Time taken	Time taken	75% +
Distance-based	Distance total	Camera Covered distance	100% +
	Distance total	Probe covered distance	
	Delta distance	Camera Covered distance	100% +
	Delta distance	Probe covered distance	
Error-based	Out-time	Camera roughness	17%
	Out-time	Probe roughness	
	Out-number	Camera roughness	0%
	Out-number	Probe roughness	
	On-box	Camera roughness	0%
	On-box	Probe roughness	
	On-work	Camera roughness	17%
	On-work	Probe roughness	
	Drop times	Camera roughness	0%
	Drop times	Probe roughness	

Table 15: Observed correlations between the "shape match with inverted controls" ASAT andVR tasks.

This suggests that the ASATs has concurrent validity for time-based and distanced-based performance parameters. This is strengthened by the addition of "out-number" which was originally designed as a "error-based" parameter.

An updated table of correlation taking into account this change of parameter purpose, the following is observed:

	Performa	nce measures on	Correlation
	ASATs	VR	
Time-based	Time taken	Time taken	75% +
	Out-number	Time taken	75% +
Distance-based	Distance total	Camera Covered distance	100% +
	Distance total	Probe covered distance	
	Delta distance	Camera Covered distance	17%
	Delta distance	Probe covered distance	
	Out-number	Camera Covered distance	83% +
	Out-number	Probe covered distance	
Error-based	Out-time	Camera roughness	17%
	Out-time	Probe roughness	
	On-box	Camera roughness	0%
	On-box	Probe roughness	
	On-work	Camera roughness	17%
	On-work	Probe roughness	
	Drop times	Camera roughness	0%
	Drop times	Probe roughness	

Table 16: Observed correlations between the "shape match with inverted controls" ASAT and VR tasks with re-classification of the ASAT "out-number" performance measure to a distance-based measure (table cells labelled yellow).

Chapter 5: Discussion

The ASATs were designed to be widely accessible and low cost simulation tools. The system provides time-, motion- and error-based objective feedback on complex hand-eye coordination tasks. Inverted controls were implemented in ASATS to match the type of hand-eye coordination skills required for arthroscopy. The "shape match" ASAT requires the picking up, moving, and releasing of a shape and therefore shares procedural skills with removal of a loose body or manipulation of tissues or sutures within the joint during real life arthroscopy. The "shape match with inverted controls" for the main study, described in Chapter Three.

The results from this study show that performance on the "shape match with inverted controls" ASAT correlates with performance on the Insight Arthro VR on multiple measures. Specifically, statistically significant and moderate strength correlations were observed between performance on the VR and on the ASAT for both time-based and distance-based parameters. It is well established that speed of movement is one measure of skill in complex hand-eye coordination tasks¹⁴⁹ and hence it is unsurprising that participants who were faster on the tasks in VR also tended to perform the "shape match with inverted controls" tasks on ASAT faster. However, accuracy of movement is also a measure of skill in complex hand-eye coordination tasks. In a review of arthroscopy simulators and their ability to assess arthroscopic skills, Modi et al. ¹⁴³ reported that the time to task completion, distance travelled by the probe, and the path taken by probe best discriminate the skill of the operator¹⁴³. This finding is of real world relevance, as the arthroscopic surgeon is operating in a very confined space, where risk of iatrogenic damage may be associated with excessive movements of the camera and tools. Therefore, it is also encouraging that the distance-based performance measures in ASATs correlated well with the equivalent measure in VR.

As the Insight Arthro VR has been shown to have construct and transfer validity⁷⁰ this suggests that the "shape match with inverted controls" ASAT, by showing concurrent validity, may help individuals develop core skills for shoulder arthroscopy via this online, widely accessible system.

The error-based parameters did not show concurrent validity between the systems. This is largely due to the key difference between the input devices on the ASATs and the VR simulator. The ASATs uses a mouse and keyboard, neither of which provide haptic feedback to the user.

In contrast, the VR uses robotic arms designed to provide haptic feedback to the user in the form of the tactile feeling of "hitting" or "colliding" with objects. This can be desirable when trying to triangulate multiple instruments, or be detrimental when colliding with the articular surface within the simulated joint; either way, it provides users with an extra sensory modality. It is therefore unsurprising that there was minimal correlation between any of the ASAT measures and the VR measure of roughness, which is based on haptic feedback.

The need for haptic feedback may not be as important as envisaged; in one Dutch survey, tactile sensation was rated "not important" by both senior and junior surgeons,^{150,151} and no studies have demonstrated superiority of haptic simulators over non-haptic ones⁵³. However, it would be interesting to investigate if another sensory modality, such as sound, gives users useful feedback in the absence of haptic feedback.

Relevance for training

The exact protocol for use of simulation systems in training programmes and beyond requires further study, and surgical training programmes will need to adapt to accommodate the emergence of simulation. Brydges et al. ¹⁵² reported that progression of training through simulators of increasing fidelity leads to superior transfer of a broad range of clinical skills. They suggested that clinical training curricula should incorporate exposure to multiple simulators to maximise educational benefit and potentially save educator time¹⁵². Specific to motor skills, Shmuelof et al. proposed that skills acquisition can be characterised by a reduction on movement variability (i.e. reduction in attempt-to-attempt variability and an increase in movement smoothness)¹⁴⁹.

MJG believes that a combination of increasing fidelity simulator exposure and feedback to the trainee to reduce the overall movement variability may lead to the optimum skills transfer. MJG proposes a linear 4-stage approach to arthroscopic skills. This utilises low-fidelity simulators in the early stages and higher fidelity systems in the latter stages.

In the first stage (cognitive), trainees develop a general understanding of arthroscopy and its equipment, particularly inverted hand-eye coordination and optimising camera viewing. The fibre-optic camera image is displayed on a screen away from the surgical site and the trainee's hands are often at an offset angle; it is thus imperative that trainees can match their visual and

proprioceptive senses. The proprioceptive senses need to take the fulcrum effect the body has on the instruments into account, thereby causing inverted movements.

The second stage (core skills acquisition) is fundamentally about acquiring and mastering inverted hand-eye coordination skills. These skills do not need to be learned in an anatomically accurate environment, but they do need to be task-driven and objective parameters measured with feedback given. This task should be fully understood so that there is minimal familiarisation time when the inverted procedural skills are being practised. This is the stage where the ASATs can help in the absence of more expensive simulators and may help select those trainees who are ready to progress to Stage 3.

The third stage (procedural skills training) involves the development of more advanced arthroscopic skills for specific tasks or procedures commonly encountered during arthroscopy, e.g. probing articular surfaces, assessing the labrum, or inserting bony anchors. This stage is best mastered using more expensive simulators, such as VR or cadaveric, with better face validity.

These three stages can help advance a trainee's learning curve prior to developing their intraoperative skills on a real patient. Stage 4 (skills transference) utilises these learned skills that have been developed in a safe environment and transfers them into the operating theatre. Identification of structures and navigation skills are regarded as highly important to trainees prior to operating on patients^{150,151}.

Development Costs

The barriers of setting up stage two training tools, such as ASATs, include the conversion of the prototype research tool into a user-friendly tool for real-life training and the collection of sufficient data to allow meaningful feedback to users about their performance relative to others (either expert arthroscopy surgeons or those at a similar stage of training and experience). Online instructional material or interactive sessions with trainers and trainees are probably required, which may add to set-up costs. However, it is possible for multiple institutions to share development, start up, and maintenance costs when the resource is online and centralised.

Limitations

The face validity of this prototype will never achieve the same levels as a VR simulator; this is a conscious decision designed to cut costs and improve accessibility by utilising commonly available input devices and software. However, this simulation tool has the potential to provide additional information and assessment, most likely before or in the early stages of training, and at virtually no cost to the end user. Also, users in this study performed the ASATs tasks followed by the VR tasks. This may have allowed the inverted hand-eye coordination skills to improve prior to learning the latter tasks. Arthroscopic instruments typically use a 30° scope to optimise the light source for visualisation within a joint. The next version of the ASATs hopes to simulate this by using the central mouse wheel as a light source control.

Future work

It is unclear whether ASATs can help develop skills in individuals who do not show baseline aptitude for simulated arthroscopy. To address this, a study is required to investigate the learning curve for both VR and the ASATs independently and longitudinally. Additionally, it would be important to understand how these two techniques interact and can be used together. Correlation studies, such as the one presented here, help us to focus on the ASAT's measures that are most likely to be useful for training and require optimisation and subsequent validation.

This study shows the "shape match with inverted controls" ASAT positively correlates with a validated arthroscopic VR simulator, but it does not validate ASAT performance as a measure of arthroscopic competence; it is not possible to display a "pass score" to indicate successful acquisition of core arthroscopic skills. A construct validation study is required to investigate the ability of the ASATs to differentiate between an expert group performance and a novice group.

Further development and investigations will need to be done regarding developing the ASATs method of measuring errors. The current parameters designed to measure errors did not correlate with the VR error-based measures of camera or probe roughness. The use of another sensory modality, such as sound, instead of or in conjunction with visual feedback will need to be investigated. The alternative of investing in hardware would go against the cheap and widely accessible ethos of the ASATs. If no other modality or method of representing errors is found to correlate with haptic feedback, it may then drive the need for the ASATs to offer additional haptic feedback through an optional hardware peripheral unit with minimal investment.

Conclusion

This thesis has introduced a novel computer-based tool, ASATS, which shows potential for use in the training and/or assessment of arthroscopy surgery skills. The study compared performance on the "Shape Match with Inverted Controls" ASAT and task performance on a validated arthroscopic VR simulator. Significant and moderate strength correlations were found between time- and motion-based performance measures and hence, for these performance measures, the ASAT has achieved concurrent validity whilst maintaining its aims of being widely accessible and low cost. The findings suggest there may be merit in further development of the ASATs, as well as future studies to explore how it could best be used in future surgical training programmes.

References

- 1. **GMC**. Good Medical Practice (2013). 2013.
- 2. **Cameron JL**. William Stewart Haisted: our surgical heritage. *Ann Surg* 1997;225(5):445–458.
- Vaughan N, Dubey VN, Wainwright TW, Middleton RG. Does Virtual-Reality Training on Orthopaedic Simulators Improve Performance in the Operating Room? *Sci Inf Conf* 2015:51–54.
- 4. **Farnworth LR, Lemay DE, Wooldridge T, Mabrey JD, Blaschak M, DeCoster TA, et al.** A comparison of operative times in arthroscopic ACL reconstruction between orthopaedic faculty and residents: The financial impact of orthopaedic surgical training in the operating room. *Iowa Orthop J* 21(505):31–35.
- 5. **Bridges M, Diamond DL**. The financial impact of teaching surgical residents in the operating room. *Am J Surg* Elsevier, 1999;177(1):28–32.
- 6. **Cannon WD, Eckhoff DG, Garrett Jr WE, Hunter RE, Sweeney HJ**. Report of a group developing a virtual reality simulator for arthroscopic surgery of the knee joint. *Clin Orthop Relat Res* LWW, 2006;442:21–29.
- Gomoll AH, O'Toole R V, Czarnecki J, Warner JJP. Surgical experience correlates with performance on a virtual reality simulator for shoulder arthroscopy. *Am J Sports Med* American Orthopaedic Society for Sports Medicine, 2007;35(6):883– 888.
- 8. **Smith R**. All changed, changed utterly. *BMJ* British Medical Journal Publishing Group, 1998;316(7149):1917–1918.
- 9. **Torkington J, Smith SG, Rees BI, Darzi A**. The role of simulation in surgical training. *Ann R Coll Surg Engl* Royal College of Surgeons of England, 2000;82(2):88.
- 10. **Pedowitz RA, Esch J, Snyder S**. Evaluation of a virtual reality simulator for arthroscopy skills development. *Arthrosc J Arthrosc Relat Surg* 2002;18(6):1–6.
- 11. **Mabrey JD, Gillogly SD, Kasser JR, Sweeney HJ, Zarins B, Mevis H, et al.** Virtual reality simulation of arthroscopy of the knee. *Arthrosc J Arthrosc Relat Surg* Elsevier, 2002;18(6):1–7.
- 12. **Bergfeld JA**. Issues with accreditation and certification of orthopaedic surgery fellowships. *J Bone Joint Surg Am* 1998;80(12):1833.
- Omer GE. Certificates of added qualifications in orthopaedic surgery. A position in support of the certificates. *J Bone Jt Surg Am* The American Orthopedic Association, 1994;76(11):1599–1602.

- Sarmiento A. Certificates of added qualifications in orthopaedic surgery. A position against the certificates. *J Bone Jt Surg Am* The American Orthopedic Association, 1994;76(11):1603–1605.
- 15. **Darzi A, Smith S, Taffinder N**. Assessing operative skill. Needs to become more objective. *BMJ* 1999;318:887–888.
- 16. **Donaldson L**. Unfinished business: proposals for reform of the senior house officer grade. Department of Health London, 2002.
- 17. **Ritchie Jr WP**. The measurement of competence. Current plans and future initiatives of the American Board of Surgery. *Bull Am Coll Surg* 2001;86(4):10–15.
- Mabrey JD, Cannon WD, Gillogly SD, Kasser JR, Sweeney HJ, Zarins B, et al. Development of a virtual reality arthroscopic knee simulator. *Stud Health Technol Inform* 1999;70:192–194.
- 19. **Shantz JAS, Leiter JRS, Gottschalk T, MacDonald PB**. The internal validity of arthroscopic simulators and their effectiveness in arthroscopic education. *Knee Surgery, Sport Traumatol Arthrosc* Springer, 2014;22(1):33–40.
- 20. **Stirling ER, Lewis TL, Ferran NA**. Surgical skills simulation in trauma and orthopaedic training. *J Orthop Surg Res* 2014;9(126):1–9.
- 21. **Irani JL, Mello MM, Ashley SW, Whang EE, Zinner MJ, Breen E**. Surgical residents' perceptions of the effects of the ACGME duty hour requirements 1 year after implementation. *Surgery* Elsevier, 2005;138(2):246–253.
- Zuckerman JD, Kubiak EN, Immerman I, Dicesare P. The Early Effects of Code 405 Work Rules on Attitudes of Orthopaedic Residents and Attending Surgeons. J Bone Jt Surg Am 2005;87(4):903–908.
- 23. Landrigan CP, Rothschild JM, Cronin JW, Kaushal R, Burdick E, Katz JT, et al. Effect of reducing interns' work hours on serious medical errors in intensive care units. *N Engl J Med* Mass Medical Soc, 2004;351(18):1838–1848.
- 24. **Grantcharov TP, Bardram L, Peter F-J, Rosenberg J**. Laparoscopic performance after one night on call in a surgical department: prospective study. *BMJ* British Medical Journal Publishing Group, 2001;323(7323):1222–1223.
- 25. **Philibert I, Friedmann P, Williams WT**. New requirements for resident duty hours. *Jama* American Medical Association, 2002;288(9):1112–1114.
- Benes V. The European Working Time Directive and the effects on training of surgical specialists (doctors in training). *Acta Neurochir (Wien)* Springer, 2006;148(9):1020–1026.

- 27. **Damadi A, Davis AT, Saxe A, Apelgren K**. ACGME duty-hour restrictions decrease resident operative volume: a 5-year comparison at an ACGME-accredited university general surgery residency. *J Surg Educ* Elsevier, 2007;64(5):256–259.
- 28. **Chikwe J, Souza AC de, Pepper JR**. No time to train the surgeons. *BMJ* 2004;328(February):418–9.
- 29. **Grant DJ, Marriage SC**. Training using medical simulation. *Arch Dis Child* 2012;97:255–9.
- 30. **Burman MS**. Arthroscopy or the direct visualization of joints. *J Bone Jt Surg* 1931;13(4):669–695.
- Hanna GB, Shimi SM, Cuschieri A. Randomised study of influence of twodimensional versus three-dimensional imaging on performance of laparoscopic cholecystectomy. *Lancet* 1998;351:248–51.
- 32. Frank RM, Erickson B, Frank JM, Bush-Joseph C a, Bach BR, Cole BJ, et al. Utility of Modern Arthroscopic Simulator Training Models. *Arthrosc J Arthrosc Relat Surg* Arthroscopy Association of North America, 2014;30(1):121–33.
- 33. Tay C, Khajuria A, Gupte C. Simulation training: A systematic review of simulation in arthroscopy and proposal of a new competency-based training framework. *Int J Surg* 2014;12:626–633.
- 34. Frostick S, Baird E, Bale S, Banks T, Bhowal B, Kellet C, et al. Specialist Training in Trauma and Orthopaedics. Curriculum August 2013. BOA Doc. Available from https//www.iscp.ac.uk/static/syllabus2013/to_curric_2013.pdf. 2013.
- 35. **Hodgins JL, Veillette C**. Arthroscopic proficiency: methods in evaluating competency. *BMC Med Educ* 2013;13(61).
- 36. Milburn JA, Khera G, Hornby ST, Malone PSC, Fitzgerald JEF. Introduction, availability and role of simulation in surgical education and training: review of current evidence and recommendations from the Association of Surgeons in Training. *Int J Surg* Elsevier, 2012;10(8):393–398.
- Howells NR, Brinsden MD, Gill RS, Carr AJ, Rees JL. Motion Analysis: A Validated Method for Showing Skill Levels in Arthroscopy. *Arthrosc - J Arthrosc Relat Surg* 2008;24(3):335–342.
- 38. Tuijthof GJM, Visser P, Sierevelt IN, Dijk CN Van, Kerkhoffs GMMJ. Does Perception of Usefulness of Arthroscopic Simulators Differ with Levels of Experience? *Clin Orthop Relat Res* 2011;469(6):1701–1708.
- 39. Karahan M, Unalan PC, Bozkurt S, Odabaş I, Akgun U, Cifcili S, et al. Correlation

of basic motor skills with arthroscopic experience. *Acta Orthop Traumatol Turc* 2009;43(1):49–53.

- 40. **Obdeijn MC, Bavinck N, Mathoulin C, Horst CM a M van der, Schijven MP, Tuijthof GJM**. Education in wrist arthroscopy: past, present and future. *Knee Surg Sports Traumatol Arthrosc* 2015;23(5):1337–1345.
- 41. **Ström P, Kjellin A, Hedman L, Wredmark T, Felländer-Tsai L**. Training in tasks with different visual-spatial components does not improve virtual arthroscopy performance. *Surg Endosc Other Interv Tech* 2004;18(1):115–120.
- 42. **Cheng Y, Lu J, Xiong X, Wu S, Lin Y, Wu T, et al.** Gases for establishing pneumoperitoneum during laparoscopic abdominal surgery. *Cochrane Database Syst Rev* John Wiley & Sons, Ltd, 2013;(1).
- 43. **Howells N, Auplish S, Hand G, Gill H, Carr A, Rees J**. Retention of Arthroscopic Shoulder Skills Learned with Use of a Simulator. *J Bone Jt Surg Am* 2009;91(5):1207–1213.
- 44. **Ferguson J, Middleton R, Alvand A, Rees J**. Newly acquired arthroscopic skills: Are they transferable during simulator training of other joints? *Knee Surgery, Sport Traumatol Arthrosc* Springer Berlin Heidelberg, 2015;(August):1–8.
- 45. **Jackson WFM, Khan T, Alvand A, Al-Ali S, Gill HS, Price AJ, et al.** Learning and Retaining Simulated Arthroscopic Menscal Repair Skills. *J Bone Jt Surg* 2012;94(e132):1–8.
- 46. **Alvand A, Auplish S, Gill H, Rees J**. Innate arthroscopic skills in medical students and variation in learning curves. *J Bone Joint Surg Am* 2011;93(19):e115(1-9).
- 47. **Alvand A, Auplish S, Khan T, Gill HS, Rees JL**. Identifying orthopaedic surgeons of the future: the inability of some medical students to achieve competence in basic arthroscopic tasks despite training: a randomised study. *J Bone Joint Surg Br* 2011;93(12):1586–91.
- Grantcharov TP, Funch-Jensen P. Can everyone achieve proficiency with the laparoscopic technique? Learning curve patterns in technical skills acquisition. *Am J Surg* Elsevier Inc., 2009;197(4):447–449.
- Cuschieri A. Whither minimal access surgery: tribulations and expectations. *Am J Surg* Elsevier, 1995;169(1):9–19.
- 50. **Allum R**. Complications of arthroscopy of the knee. *J Bone Jt Surgery, Br Vol* British Editorial Society of Bone and Joint Surgery, 2002;84(7):937–945.
- 51. Rahm S, Wieser K, Wicki I, Holenstein L, Fucentese SF, Gerber C. Performance

of medical students on a virtual reality simulator for knee arthroscopy: an analysis of learning curves and predictors of performance. *BMC Surg* 2016;16(1):1–8.

- 52. **Reznick RK, MacRae H**. Teaching surgical skills—changes in the wind. *N Engl J Med* Mass Medical Soc, 2006;355(25):2664–2669.
- 53. **Atesok K, Mabrey JD, Jazrawi LM, Egol KA**. Surgical Simulation in Orthopaedic Skills Training. *J Am Acad Orthop Surg* 2012;20(7):410–422.
- 54. **Lewis TL, Vohra RS**. Smartphones make smarter surgeons. *Br J Surg* Wiley Online Library, 2014;101(4):296–297.
- 55. Koehler R, John T, Lawler J, Moorman C, Nicandri G. Arthroscopic training resources in orthopedic resident education. *J Knee Surg* Thieme Medical Publishers, 2015;28(1):67–74.
- 56. The AO Foundation. https://www.aofoundation.org/Structure/the-aofoundation/Pages/History-of-the-AO-NEW.aspx , (date last accessed 30 September 2016).
- 57. Hall MP, Kaplan KM, Gorczynski CT, Zuckerman JD, Rosen JE. Assessment of arthroscopic training in U.S. orthopaedic surgery residency programs: A resident self-assessment. *Bull NYU Hosp Jt Dis* 2010;68(1):5–10.
- 58. Insel A, Carofino B, Leger R, Arciero R, Mazzocca AD. The development of an objective model to assess arthroscopic performance. *J Bone Jt Surg Am* The American Orthopedic Association, 2009;91(9):2287–2295.
- 59. O'Neill PJ, Cosgarea AJ, Freedman JA, Queale WS, McFarland EG. Arthroscopic proficiency: A survey of orthopaedic sports medicine fellowship directors and orthopaedic surgery department chairs. *Arthrosc J Arthrosc Relat Surg* 2002;18(7):795–800.
- 60. **Paisley AM, Baldwin P, Paterson-Brown S**. Feasibility, reliability and validity of a new assessment form for use with basic surgical trainees. *Am J Surg* Elsevier, 2001;182(1):24–29.
- 61. **Michelson JD**. Simulation in Orthopaedic Education: An Overview of Theory and Practice. *J Bone Jt Surg* 2006;88(6):1405.
- 62. Middleton RM, Baldwin MJ, Akhtar K, Alvand A, Rees JL. Which Global Rating Scale?: A Comparison of the ASSET, BAKSSS, and IGARS for the Assessment of Simulated Arthroscopic Skills. J Bone Jt Surg 2016;98(1):75–81.
- 63. **Alvand A, Logishetty K, Middleton R, Khan T, Jackson WFM, Price AJ, et al.** Validating a global rating scale to monitor individual resident learning curves

during arthroscopic knee meniscal repair. *Arthrosc - J Arthrosc Relat Surg* Arthroscopy Association of North America, 2013;29(5):906–12.

- 64. Martin JA, Regehr G, Reznick R, MacRae H, Murnaghan J, Hutchison C, et al. Objective structured assessment of technical skill (OSATS) for surgical residents. *Br J Surg* Wiley Online Library, 1997;84(2):273–278.
- 65. **Howells NR, Gill HS, Carr AJ, Price AJ, Rees JL**. Transferring simulated arthroscopic skills to the operating theatre: A randomised blinded study. *J Bone Jt Surg [Br]* 2008;90:494–9.
- 66. **Sidhu RS, Grober ED, Musselman LJ, Reznick RK**. Assessing competency in surgery: where to begin? *Surgery* Elsevier, 2004;135(1):6–20.
- 67. Suggested Guidelines for the Practice of Arthroscopic Surgery. *Arthroscopy* Elsevier, 2016;31(8):A27.
- 68. The American Board of Orthopedic Surgery. https://www.abos.org/certification/sports-subspecialty.aspx , (date last accessed 30 September 2016).
- 69. Hetaimish B, Elbadawi H, Ayeni OR. Evaluating Simulation in Training for Arthroscopic Knee Surgery: A Systematic Review of the Literature. *Arthrosc J Arthrosc Relat Surg* 2016;32(6):1207–1220.
- 70. **Martin KD, Jr PJB, Schoenfeld AJ, Todd M, Cameron KL, Owens BD, et al.** Arthroscopic Basic Task Performance in Shoulder Simulator Model Correlates with Similar Task Performance in Cadavers. *J Bone Jt Surg* 2011;93(21):e127 1-5.
- 71. Smith S, Wan A, Taffinder N, Read S, Emery R, Darzi A. Early experience and validation work with Procedicus VA--the Prosolvia virtual reality shoulder arthroscopy trainer. *Stud Health Technol Inform* 1998;62:337–343.
- 72. Chami G, Ward JW, Phillips R, Sherman KP. Haptic feedback can provide an objective assessment of arthroscopic skills. *Clin Orthop Relat Res* 2008;466(4):963–968.
- 73. **Tashiro Y, Miura H, Nakanishi Y, Okazaki K, Iwamoto Y**. Evaluation of skills in arthroscopic training based on trajectory and force data. *Clin Orthop Relat Res* 2009;467(2):546–52.
- 74. **Datta V, Mackay S, Mandalia M, Darzi A**. The use of electromagnetic motion tracking analysis to objectively measure open surgical skill in the laboratory-based model. *J Am Coll Surg* Elsevier, 2001;193(5):479–485.
- 75. Taffinder N, Smith S, Mair J, Russell R, Darzi A. Can a computer measure surgical

precision? Reliability, validity and feasibility of the ICSAD. *Surg Endosc* 1999;13(suppl 1):81.

- 76. Nasr A, Carrillo B, Gerstle JT, Azzie G. Motion analysis in the pediatric laparoscopic surgery (PLS) simulator: validation and potential use in teaching and assessing surgical skills. *J Pediatr Surg* Elsevier, 2014;49(5):791–794.
- 77. **Mason JD, Ansell J, Warren N, Torkington J**. Is motion analysis a valid tool for assessing laparoscopic skill? *Surg Endosc* Springer, 2013;27(5):1468–1477.
- 78. **Datta V, Chang A, Mackay S, Darzi A**. The relationship between motion analysis and surgical technical assessments. *Am J Surg* Elsevier, 2002;184(1):70–73.
- 79. Moorthy K, Munz Y, Dosis A, Bello F, Darzi A. Motion analysis in the training and assessment of minimally invasive surgery. *Minim Invasive Ther Allied Technol* Taylor & Francis, 2003;12(3–4):137–142.
- 80. Smith SGT, Torkington J, Brown TJ, Taffinder NJ, Darzi A. Motion analysis. *Surg Endosc* Springer, 2002;16(4):640–645.
- 81. **Gallagher AG, Richie K, McClure N, McGuigan J**. Objective psychomotor skills assessment of experienced, junior, and novice laparoscopists with virtual reality. *World J Surg* Springer, 2001;25(11):1478–1483.
- 82. **Doyle JD, Webber EM, Sidhu RS**. A universal global rating scale for the evaluation of technical skills in the operating room. *Am J Surg* Elsevier, 2007;193(5):551–555.
- Reznick R, Regehr G, MacRae H, Martin J, McCulloch W. Testing technical skill via an innovative 'bench station' examination. *Am J Surg* Elsevier, 1997;173(3):226–230.
- 84. Niitsu H, Hirabayashi N, Yoshimitsu M, Mimura T, Taomoto J, Sugiyama Y, et al. Using the Objective Structured Assessment of Technical Skills (OSATS) global rating scale to evaluate the skills of surgical trainees in the operating room. *Surg Today* Springer, 2013;43(3):271–275.
- 85. Koehler RJ, Amsdell S, Arendt EA, Bisson LJ, Bramen JP, Butler A, et al. The arthroscopic surgical skill evaluation tool (ASSET). *Am J Sports Med* American Orthopaedic Society for Sports Medicine, 2013;41(6):1229–1237.
- 86. Olson T, Koehler R, Butler A, Amsdell S, Nicandri G. Is there a valid and reliable assessment of diagnostic knee arthroscopy skill? *Clin Orthop Relat Res* Springer, 2013;471(5):1670–1676.
- 87. **Bayona S, Akhtar K, Gupte C, Emery RJH, Dodds AL, Bello F**. Assessing performance in shoulder arthroscopy: The Imperial Global Arthroscopy Rating

Scale (IGARS). *J Bone Jt Surg* The Journal of Bone and Joint Surgery, Inc., 2014;96(13):e112.

- 88. **Bramson R, Sadoski M, Sanders CW, Walsum K van, Wiprud R**. A reliable and valid instrument to assess competency in basic surgical skills in second-year medical students. *South Med J* 2007;100(10):985–990.
- 89. **Chou B, Bowen CW, Handa VL**. Evaluating the competency of gynecology residents in the operating room: validation of a new assessment tool. *Am J Obstet Gynecol* Elsevier, 2008;199(5):571-e1.
- 90. Eubanks TR, Clements RH, Pohl D, Williams N, Schaad DC, Horgan S, et al. An objective scoring system for laparoscopic cholecystectomy. *J Am Coll Surg* Elsevier, 1999;189(6):566–574.
- 91. **Larson JL, Williams RG, Ketchum J, Boehler ML, Dunnington GL**. Feasibility, reliability and validity of an operative performance rating system for evaluating surgery residents. *Surgery* Elsevier, 2005;138(4):640–649.
- 92. **Sarker SK, Chang A, Vincent C**. Technical and technological skills assessment in laparoscopic surgery. *JSLS J Soc Laparoendosc Surg* Society of Laparoendoscopic Surgeons, 2006;10(3):284.
- 93. **Aggarwal R, Grantcharov T, Moorthy K, Milland T, Darzi A**. Toward feasible, valid, and reliable video-based assessments of technical surgical skills in the operating room. *Ann Surg* LWW, 2008;247(2):372–379.
- 94. **Regehr G, MacRae H, Reznick RK, Szalay D**. Comparing the psychometric properties of checklists and global rating scales for assessing performance on an OSCE-format examination. *Acad Med* LWW, 1998;73(9):993–997.
- 95. National Joint Registry. http://www.njrcentre.org.uk , (date last accessed 30 September 2016).
- 96. National Hip Fracture Database. . [cited 30 Sep 2016].
- 97. National Ligament Registry.
- 98. **Rineberg BA**. Managing change during complex times. *J Bone Jt Surg Am* The American Orthopedic Association, 1990;72(6):799–800.
- 99. **Temple J**. Time for training: a review of the impact of the European working time directive on the quality of training. 2010.
- 100. Subramonian K, Muir G. The 'learning curve'in surgery: what is it, how do we measure it and can we influence it? *BJU Int* Wiley Online Library, 2004;93(9):1173–1174.

- 101. Hove C Van, Perry KA, Spight DH, Wheeler-Mcinvaille K, Diggs BS, Sheppard BC, et al. Predictors of technical skill acquisition among resident trainees in a laparoscopic skills education program. *World J Surg* Springer, 2008;32(9):1917–1921.
- 102. Hoffman BM, Coons MJ, Kuo PC. Personality differences between surgery residents, nonsurgery residents, and medical students. *Surgery* Elsevier, 2010;148(2):187–193.
- 103. **Association of Surgeons of Great Britain and Ireland**. The impact of EWTD on Delivery of Surgical Services: A Consensus Statement. 2008.
- 104. **Wong SHS, Ng KFJ, Chen PP**. The application of clinical simulation in crisis management training. *Hong Kong Med J* 2002;8(2):131–135.
- 105. Weinstock P, Kappus L, Kleinman M, Grenier B, Hickey P, Burns J. Toward a new paradigm in hospital-based pediatric education: the development of an onsite simulator program. *Pediatr Crit Care Med* 2005;6:635–641.
- 106. Dawe SR, Pena GN, Windsor JA, Broeders J, Cregan PC, Hewett PJ, et al. Systematic review of skills transfer after surgical simulation-based training. *Br J Surg* Wiley Online Library, 2014;101(9):1063–1076.
- 107. **Gaba DM**. The future vision of simulation in health care. *Qual Saf Heal care* BMJ Publishing Group Ltd, 2004;13(suppl 1):i2–i10.
- 108. Small SD, Wuerz RC, Simon R, Shapiro N, Conn A, Setnik G. Demonstration of high-fidelity simulation team training for emergency medicine. *Acad Emerg Med* Wiley Online Library, 1999;6(4):312–323.
- 109. Gaba DM, Howard SK, Fish KJ, Smith BE, Sowb YA. Simulation-based training in anesthesia crisis resource management (ACRM): a decade of experience. *Simul Gaming* Sage Publications, 2001;32(2):175–193.
- Grierson LEM. Information processing, specificity of practice, and the transfer of learning: considerations for reconsidering fidelity. *Adv Heal Sci Educ* Springer, 2014;19(2):281–289.
- Suinn R. Body thinking: psychology for Olympic champions. *Pyschology Sport* Methods Appl 1980;306–315.
- 112. LeBlanc J, Hutchison C, Hu Y, Donnon T. A comparison of orthopaedic resident performance on surgical fixation of an ulnar fracture using virtual reality and synthetic models. *J Bone Jt Surg* The Journal of Bone and Joint Surgery, Inc., 2013;95(9):e60.

- 113. **Decety J.** The neurophysiological basis of motor imagery. *Behav Brain Res* 1996;77(1–2):45–52.
- 114. Cognitive simulation course. Assoc. Surg. Train. https://www.asit.org/ , (date last accessed 30 September 2016).
- 115. **Kulendran M, Lim M, Chow A, Nehme J, Darzi A, Purkayastha S**. Surgical Smartphone applications across different platforms their evolution, uses, and users. *Surg Innov* SAGE Publications, 2014;1553350614525670.
- 116. **Leong JJH, Leff DR, Das a, Aggarwal R, Reilly P, Atkinson HDE, et al.** Validation of orthopaedic bench models for trauma surgery. *J Bone Joint Surg Br* 2008;90(7):958–965.
- 117. **Norman G, Dore K, Grierson L**. The minimal relationship between simulation fidelity and transfer of learning. *Med Educ* 2012;46:636–647.
- 118. **Braman JP, Sweet RM, Hananel DM, Ludewig PM, Heest AE Van**. Development and Validation of a Basic Arthroscopy Skills Simulator. *Arthrosc - J Arthrosc Relat Surg* Arthroscopy Association of North America, 2015;31(1):104–112.
- 119. **Barrett DS, Green RG, Copeland SA**. Arthroscopic and endoscopic skills: A method of assessment. *Ann R Coll Surg Engl* 1991;73(2):100–104.
- 120. **Meyer RD, Tamarapalli JR, Lemons JE**. Arthroscopy training using a 'black box' technique. *Arthrosc J Arthrosc Relat Surg* Elsevier, 1993;9(3):338–340.
- 121. **Moody L, Waterworth A**. A flexible virtual reality tutorial for the training and assessment of arthroscopic skills. *Stud Health Technol Inform* 2003;98:244–246.
- 122. **Muller WK, Ziegler R, Bauer A, Soldner EH**. Virtual reality in surgical arthroscopic training. *J Image Guid Surg* 1995;1(5):288–294.
- 123. Sawbones Catalogue. http://www.sawbones.com/Catalog/Orthopaedic Models/Shoulder/1410-4-13 , (date last accessed 30 September 2016).
- 124. Nichols J, Ferran N, Bryson D, Ashford R, Bhowal B, Dias J. Current training issues: a guide to simulation for the orthopaedic surgeon. *Core Surg J* 2006;2(3):7–8.
- 125. Gomoll AH, Toole RVO, Czarnecki J, Warner JJP. Surgical Experience Correlates With Performance on a Virtual Reality Simulator for Shoulder Arthroscopy. *Am J Sports Med* 2007;35(6):883–888.
- 126. **McCarthy A, Harley P, Smallwood R**. Virtual arthroscopy training: do the' virtual skills' developed match the real skills required? *Stud Health Technol Inform* 1998;62:221–227.

- 127. **Sherman KP, Ward JW, Wills DP, Sherman VJ, Mohsen AM**. Surgical trainee assessment using a VE knee arthroscopy training system (VE-KATS): experimental results. *Stud Health Technol Inform* 2000;81:465–470.
- 128. **Winkelman C, Maloney B, Kloos J**. The Impact of Obesity on Critical Care Resource Use and Outcomes. *Crit Care Nurs Clin North Am* 2009;21:403–422.
- Heng P-A, Cheng C-Y, Wong T-T, Wu W, Xu Y, Xie Y, et al. Application to Anatomic Visualization and Orthopaedics Training. *Clin Orthop Relat Res* LWW, 2006;442:5–12.
- 130. **Blyth P, Anderson IA, Stott NS**. Virtual reality simulators in orthopedic surgery: what do the surgeons think? *J Surg Res* Elsevier, 2006;131(1):133–139.
- 131. **Cannon WD, Nicandri GT, Reinig K, Mevis H, Wittstein J**. Evaluation of skill level between trainees and community orthopaedic surgeons using a virtual reality arthroscopic knee simulator. *J Bone Jt Surg Am* The American Orthopedic Association, 2014;96(7):e57.
- 132. **Stunt JJ, Kerkhoffs G, Dijk CN van, Tuijthof GJM**. Validation of the ArthroS virtual reality simulator for arthroscopic skills. *Knee Surgery, Sport Traumatol Arthrosc* Springer, 2015;23(11):3436–3442.
- 133. McCarthy AD, Moody L, Waterworth AR, Bickerstaff DR. Passive haptics in a knee arthroscopy simulator: is it valid for core skills training? *Clin Orthop Relat Res* LWW, 2006;442:13–20.
- 134. Butler A, Olson T, Koehler R, Nicandri G. Do the skills acquired by novice surgeons using anatomic dry models transfer effectively to the task of diagnostic knee arthroscopy performed on cadaveric specimens? *J Bone Jt Surg Am* The American Orthopedic Association, 2013;95(3):e15.
- 135. Martin KD, Cameron K, Belmont Jr PJ, Schoenfeld A, Owens BD. Shoulder arthroscopy simulator performance correlates with resident and shoulder arthroscopy experience. *J Bone Joint Surg Am* [Internet] 2012 [cited 1 Dec 2014];94(21):e160(1-5).
- Andersen C, Winding TN, Vesterby MS. Development of simulated arthroscopic skills. *Acta Orthop* 2011;82(1):90–95.
- 137. Cannon WD, Garrett WE, Hunter RE, Sweeney HJ, Eckhoff DG, Nicandri GT, et al. Improving residency training in arthroscopic knee surgery with use of a virtualreality simulator. *J Bone Jt Surg Am* The American Orthopedic Association, 2014;96(21):1798–1806.

- 138. Escoto A, Trejos AL, Naish MD, Patel R V, LeBel M-E. Force sensing-based simulator for arthroscopic skills assessment in orthopaedic knee surgery. *MMVR* 2012:129–135.
- 139. **Srivastava S, Youngblood PL, Rawn C, Hariri S**. Initial evaluation of a shoulder arthroscopy simulator : *J Shoulder Elb Surg* 2004;13(2):196–205.
- 140. Bliss JP, Hanner-Bailey HS, Scerbo MW. Determining the efficacy of an immersive trainer for arthroscopy skills. *Stud Health Technol Inform* Amsterdam; Washington, DC: IOS Press, 1991-, 2005;111:54–56.
- 141. Al-Ali S, Alvand A, Gill HS, Beard DJ, Jackson W, Price AJ, et al. Objective assessment of the learning curve for arthroscopic meniscal repair. *J Bone Jt Surgery*, *Br Vol* 2012;94–B(SUPP XXIX):74.
- 142. Gomoll AH, Pappas G, Forsythe B, Warner JJP. Individual Skill Progression on a Virtual Reality Simulator for Shoulder Arthroscopy A 3-Year Follow-up Study. *Am J Sport Med* 2008;36(6):1139–1142.
- 143. **Modi C, Morris G, Mukherjee R**. Computer-Simulation Training for Knee and Shoulder Arthroscopic Surgery. *Arthroscopy* 2010;26(6):832–840.
- 144. **Allen IE, Seaman CA**. Likert scales and data analyses. *Qual Prog* American Society for Quality, 2007;40(7):64.
- 145. **Vitale MA, Kleweno CP, Jacir AM, Levine WN, Bigliani LU, Ahmad CS**. Training resources in arthroscopic rotator cuff repair. *J Bone Jt Surg Am* The American Orthopedic Association, 2007;89(6):1393–1398.
- 146. Hariri S, Rawn C, Srivastava S, Youngblood P, Ladd A. Evaluation of a surgical simulator for learning clinical anatomy. *Med Educ* Wiley Online Library, 2004;38(8):896–902.
- 147. Henn RF, Shah N, Warner JJP, Gomoll AH. Shoulder arthroscopy simulator training improves shoulder arthroscopy performance in a cadaveric model. *Arthrosc - J Arthrosc Relat Surg* Arthroscopy Association of North America, 2013;29(6):982–5.
- 148. Rebolledo BJ, Hammann-Scala J, Leali A, Ranawat AS. Arthroscopy Skills Development With a Surgical Simulator: A Comparative Study in Orthopaedic Surgery Residents. *Am J Sports Med* 2015;43(6):1526–1529.
- 149. Shmuelof L, Krakauer JW, Mazzoni P. How is a motor skill learned? Change and invariance at the levels of task success and trajectory control. *J Neurophysiol* Am Physiological Soc, 2012;108(2):578–594.

- 150. **Hui Y, Safir O, Dubrowski A, Carnahan H**. What skills should simulation training in arthroscopy teach residents? A focus on resident input. *Int J Comput Assist Radiol Surg* 2013;8:945–53.
- 151. **Safir O, Dubrowski A, Mirsky L, Lin C, Backstein D, Carnahan H**. What skills should simulation training in arthroscopy teach residents? *Int J Comput Assist Radiol Surg* [Internet] 2008;3:433–437.
- 152. Brydges R, Carnahan H, Rose D. Coordinating progressive levels of simulation fidelity to maximize educational benefit. *Acad Med* [Internet] 2010 [cited 1 Dec 2014];85(5):806–812.

Appendices

Note: A shared application was made between the ASATs study and the eye-tracking study for ethical, organisational and sponsor approval. Similarly, recruitment was shared between the studies. This thesis refers only to the ASATs. The eye-tracking study was investigated by Mr Mike Anderton.

Ethical, Organisational and Sponsor Approvals



Research, Innovation and Academic Engagement Ethical Approval Panel

College of Health & Social Care AD 101 Allerton Building University of Salford M6 6PU

T +44(0)161 295 7016 r.shuttleworth@salford.ac.uk

www.salford.ac.uk/

19 November 2012

Dear Maulik,

<u>RE: ETHICS APPLICATION HSCR12/67</u> – Validation of Arthroscopic Skills Acquisition Tools (ASATs) and Assessment of Eye Tracking in Simulated Shoulder Arthroscopy.

Following your responses to the Panel's queries, based on the information you provided, I am pleased to inform you that application HSCR12/67 has now been approved.

If there are any changes to the project and/ or its methodology, please inform the Panel as soon as possible.

Yours sincerely,

Rachel Shuttleworth

Rachel Shuttleworth College Support Officer (R&I)



 Direct Line:
 0161 6

 Fax:
 0161 6

 Email:
 r.marla

Dr MJ Anderton 36 Ladythorn Road

Bramhall Stockport

SK7 2ER

0161 625 7637 0161 625 7503 r.marland@nwpgmd.nhs.uk

North Western Deanery 3rd Floor

3° Floor Three Piccadilly Place Manchester M1 3BN

Tel: 0845 050 0194 Fax: 0161 625 7503

http://www.nwpgmd.nhs.uk

17th September 2012

Dear Dr Anderton,

Re: Validation of arthroscopic skills acquisition tools (ASATs) & assessment of eye tracking in simulated shoulder arthroscopy study.

I write to confirm that your application for organisational approval by NHS North of England, and Sponsor's approval by the North Western Deanery, to conduct the above research study has been approved.

You may now proceed with the research.

Yours sincerely

Alari Anis

Dr Steven J Agius Senior Research Fellow in Medical Education North Western Deanery

NHS North East, NHS North West and NHS Yorkshire and the Humber - the three strategic health authorities in the North of England -now work together nucleus simple management framework as NHS North of England.

Participant Information Sheet (detailed)

PROJECT TITLE: Validation of Arthroscopic Skills Acquisitions Tools (ASATs) for Shoulder Arthroscopy and Assessment of Eye Tracking in Simulated Shoulder Arthroscopy.

Dear Participant,

Many thanks for your interest in this research study. This study is open to medical students who do not have any experience in PERFORMING keyhole surgery, although it is ok if you have watched and understand how keyhole surgery works. In addition, the study will involve input from Consultant Orthopaedic Shoulder Surgeons.

Arthroscopy (key hole surgery into a joint) is difficult to master because it requires advanced hand-eye coordination skills. These skills can be developed, but each person has their own learning curve. This study is looking at ways of improving or speeding up this learning curve.

This research project is broadly looking at 2 hypotheses:

Whether the skills required for arthroscopic surgery can be acquired or developed with regular hand-eye coordination tasks. These tasks are performed on a computer using a keyboard and mouse (ASATs).

Whether eye movements correlate with arthroscopic performance, and if there is a difference between novice and expert participants. If a difference exists, we would be interested in seeing what these differences were and whether eye movements can be trained to help accelerate their learning curves.

To test these hypotheses, participants will be asked to complete the ASATs tasks and the virtual reality simulator tasks. There are 6 ASATs tasks, 4 virtual reality simulator tasks and 3 synthetic shoulder simulator tasks. These are described in further detail below. A video will also be shown to demonstrate the ASATs on the day.

To test the eye movements, an eye-tracking device will be placed on a spectacles frame that you have to wear for the device to work. These spectacles fit over any corrective glasses you may already be wearing. If you do not wish to wear the eye tracking spectacles or they are uncomfortable, then you can be excluded from this part of the study. You can still continue with the rest of the study.

On your first visit, you will be allocated a group, which will determine if you have access to the ASATs outside the study visits. The ASATs will record your scores, and how often you have utilised access to these tools. You will have 7 visits scheduled; one for baseline performance and 6 follow up visits (monthly intervals) to assess your learning curve. A flow diagram outlining the course of the study is shown below.

You are free to withdraw from the study at any time.

Taking part or opting out of the study will not influence your present or future medical training.

You will be given a certificate of participation in this study. You may already know that virtual reality simulators are very expensive training tools, but as a participant you will have supervised access to them for free. You will also have access to the ASATs after the study has finished.

There is no financial reward for taking part in this study.

All data obtained from this study will be used anonymously for poster, podium and paper presentations.

Should you have any questions at any stage, please contact Mr Maulik J Gandhi (07868 657 362, <u>maulikjgandhi@yahoo.co.uk</u>). Remember, you are free to withdraw from the study at any stage.

Many thanks for your interest and help,

Yours Sincerely

Mr Maulik J Gandhi, Mr Michael Anderton, Prof Len Funk, Prof D Roberts, Prof P Turner

Participant Information Sheet (overview)

PROJECT TITLE: Validation of Arthroscopic Skills Acquisitions Tools (ASATs) for Shoulder Arthroscopy and Assessment of Eye Tracking in Simulated Shoulder Arthroscopy.

Dear Participant,

Many thanks for your interest in this research study. This study is looking at ways of improving or speeding up the learning curve for keyhole surgery. It is open to medical students who do not have any experience in PERFORMING keyhole surgery, although it is ok if you have watched and understand how it works.

The study has 2 parts:

For assessment on the ASATs, you will be required to use a computer and mouse. On your first visit, you will be allocated into one of two groups. This will determine if you have access to the ASATs outside the study visits. A flow diagram explaining the study is shown below. The ASATs will record your scores, and how often you have used these tools.

To test eye movements, an eye-tracking device will be placed on a spectacles frame that you have to wear for the device to work. These spectacles fit over any corrective glasses you may already be wearing. If you do not wish to wear the eye tracking spectacles or they are uncomfortable, you can be excluded from this part of the study. You can still continue with the rest of the study.

You will also be assessed on a virtual reality simulator. You may already know that virtual reality simulators are very expensive training tools, but as a participant you will have supervised access to them for free. You will also have access to the ASATs after the study has finished.

You are free to withdraw from the study at any time and taking part or opting out of the study will not influence your present or future medical training.

All information obtained from this study will be used anonymously for poster, podium and paper presentations.

Should you have any questions at any stage, please contact Mr Maulik J Gandhi (07868 657 362, <u>maulikjgandhi@yahoo.co.uk</u>). Remember, you are free to withdraw from the study at any stage.

Many thanks for your interest and help,

Yours Sincerely

Mr Maulik J Gandhi, Mr Michael Anderton, Prof Len Funk, Prof D Roberts, Prof P Turner

Arthroscopic Skills Acquisition Tools

Title: Click Points

Objective: move the mouse pointer over the static point, and left click (in one hand mode) or spacebar press (in two hand mode)

Positive scoring factors: keeping the pointer in the white area, not hitting the obstructions (red), quickly click all the points, accurate and steady movements.

Negative scoring factors: hitting the obstructions, moving out of the white area into the grey area, taking a long time to click all the points, wild and rash movements.

Title: Click Points with Inverted Controls

Objective: move the mouse pointer over the static point, and left click (in one hand mode) or spacebar press (in two hand mode)

Positive scoring factors: keeping the pointer in the white area, not hitting the obstructions (red), quickly click all the points, accurate and steady movements.

Negative scoring factors: hitting the obstructions, moving out of the white area into the grey area, taking a long time to click all the points, wild and rash movements.

Hand movement	Screen movement
Up	down
Down	up
Left	right
Right	left



Title: Track Box

Objective: keep the mouse pointer over the tracking box

Positive scoring factors: keeping the pointer in the white area, not hitting the obstructions (red), keeping the pointer over the moving box, accurate and steady movements.

Negative scoring factors: hitting the obstructions, moving out of the white area into the grey area, wild and rash movements.

Title: Track Box with Inverted Controls

Objective: keep the mouse pointer over the tracking box

Positive scoring factors: keeping the pointer in the white area, not hitting the obstructions (red),

keeping the pointer over the moving box, accurate and steady movements.

Negative scoring factors: hitting the obstructions, moving out of the white area into the grey area, wild and rash movements.

Hand movement	Screen movement
Up	down
Down	ир
Left	right
Right	left



Title: Shape Match

Objective: move the mouse pointer over the static blue shape, and left click (in one hand mode) or spacebar press once to hold, and press 2nd time to release (in two hand mode) into the corresponding grey shape

Positive scoring factors: keeping the pointer in the white area, not hitting the obstructions (red), quickly dropping all the shapes into the corresponding shapes, accurate and steady movements, not losing the pointer out of the scope view (in two hand mode) as this will drop the shape. Negative scoring factors: hitting the obstructions, moving out of the white area into the grey area, taking a long time to drop.

Title: Shape Match with Inverted Controls

Objective: move the mouse pointer over the static blue shape, and left click (in one hand mode) or spacebar press once to hold, and press 2nd time to release (in two hand mode) into the corresponding grey shape.

Positive scoring factors: keeping the pointer in the white area, not hitting the obstructions (red), quickly dropping all the shapes into the corresponding shapes, accurate and steady movements, not losing the pointer out of the scope view (in two hand mode) as this will drop the shape Negative scoring factors: hitting the obstructions, moving out of the white area into the grey area, taking a long time to drop the shapes into the corresponding shapes, wild and rash movements.

Hand movement	Screen movement
Up	down
Down	ир
Left	right
Right	left


Virtual reality simulator tasks

- operating room (familiarisation) you need to focus the scope view onto the bull's eye target. The target will turn yellow when focussed, and this needs to be held for 3 consecutive seconds. You then move onto the next bull's eye target.
- 2. locate and palpate (anatomical) (two hand) you need to focus on the ball (which will turn blue when focussed) for 3 consecutive seconds. Once this has been completed, the ball needs to be probed (touched) with the instrument in the other hand. This will turn the ball blue and this needs to be held for 3 seconds. You then move onto the next ball.
- 3. visual examination (anatomical) (one hand) you need to focus on the ball (which will turn blue when focussed) for 3 consecutive seconds. You then move onto the next ball.
- pendulum (non-anatomical) (two hand) you need to touch the moving ball (which will turn blue) for 5 consecutive seconds. The ball will then move in a different direction. You have to touch it for 5 consecutive seconds.

Anatomical Landmarks used

- 1. biceps tendon
- 2. posterior labrum
- 3. inferior labrum
- 4. centre of glenoid
- 5. supraspinatus insertion
- 6. denuded cartilage
- 7. humeral cartilage
- 8. subscapularis
- 9. medial glenohumeral ligament
- 10. inferior glenohumeral ligament



Participant Consent Form

PROJECT TITLE: Validation of Arthroscopic Skills Acquisitions Tools (ASATs) for Shoulder Arthroscopy and Assessment of Eye Tracking in Simulated Shoulder Arthroscopy.

Please initial each statement to indicate you agree to the statement

I agree:

The project has been explained

There has been an opportunity to ask questions

Photos and videos can be taken as long as I cannot be identified

Data collected during this project can be presented in a nonidentifiable format

No financial incentive has been/will be given for participation

To participate out of my own free will and understand that I can withdraw at any stage

Participant Name:____

Participant Signature:_____

Date:

Participant Advert Material developed with Scalpel Surgical Society

Subject: surgical simulator training study!

Background:

Training in the UK has changed since the European Working Time Directive, resulting in less training time. This means less opportunity to develop surgical skills. We have looked at ways of developing these skills, and one way is through the use of simulators. The current simulators are expensive, and also not very accessible. During this study we will also look at eye tracking, which is an essential part of hand/eye co-ordination, but often overlooked. Eye tracking will be recorded during use of the virtual reality simulator and results of medical students will be compared to orthopaedic consultants.

Project objective 1:

This will look at 3 different simulators and see whether they help to develop arthroscopic surgical skills (keyhole surgery into a shoulder joint).

Simulator 1: Virtual reality simulator

Simulator 2: Plastic model simulator

Simulator 3: Computer model simulator

Hypotheses: regular simulator training, irregardless of which simulator is used, will develop arthroscopic skills.

Methods: 100 medical students will be recruited. 2 groups will be formed - 3SIM access and 2SIM access. 3SIM access will have access to 3 simulators, and 2SIM access group will have access to Simulator 1 & 2 only.

Each medical student will be assessed monthly from month 0 to month 6 (7 visits) and each will have an hour session on simulator 1 & 2. 3SIM access group will have username and password access to simulator 3 via an internet enabled computer.

Project objective 2:

This will establish if a difference exists between eye tracking (eye movements) of novice surgeons (medical students) and expert surgeons (consultant orthopaedic shoulder surgeons). Results may allow the development of an eye movement training program which will enhance arthroscopic surgery training.

Hypotheses: during shoulder arthroscopy eye tracking of novice surgeons differs from expert surgeons

Methods: 20 medical students & 20 consultants shoulder surgeons will be recruited. During simulated arthroscopic shoulder procedures, eye tracking will be recorded.

Each medical student will be assessed monthly from month 0 to month 6 (7 visits). Consultant orthopaedic shoulder surgeons will be assessed once. Each visit will consist of an hour session on the virtual reality simulator.

Target audience:

Medical students who are able to give up 1 hour per month for 6 months to come to Bridgewater hospital to be assessed on the simulators. Those randomised into 3SIM access should practice on the simulator 3 as much as possible at home. All years are welcome, but priority will be given to senior years in the early cohorts. 25 students will be accepted every 6 months, so even if you are a junior year, put your name down and pre-register for the next cohort.

Demographic Questionnaire

Unique Identifier Number (UIN)		
Date of birth		
Sex (delete appropriate)	Male/female	
Participant year at medical school		
Eye sight correction	Left, Right, contact lenses	
Hand dominance (delete appropriate)	Left / Right / Ambidextrous	
Hobbies (please list)	1.	
	2.	
	3.	
	4.	
	5.	
	6.	
	7.	
Do you participate/play (please mark how	1. Computer games with joystick	
many hours/week)	2. Computer games with controller	
	3. Computer games keyboard/mouse	
	4. Computer games other	
	5. Knitting	
	6. Sewing	
	7. Needle work	
	8. Handheld consoles, e.g. Gameboy	
	9. Playing musical instruments &	
	grade	
Do you participate/play computer games	1. Role play (1 st person shooting)	
involving (please mark how many	2. Flight simulators	
hours/week)	3. Car racing	
	4. Strategy	
	5. Other	
Do you participate in any activities that		
require manual dexterity or hand-eye		
coordination (give examples)		

Session Plan

50	10 mins	Intro, consent
00	5 mins	ASATs registration
05	15 mins	Watch videos of ASATs, VR,
		Alex
20	30 mins	Perform above
50	10 mins	Overtime

Raw Data

					ASATs pa	rameters			
unique ID	timetaken	outtime	outnum		onbox	onwork	droptimes	distancetotal	ielta_distance
1	25.531	0		0	60.0642	100	0	2480.02	1201.57
2	24.966	6.87335		2	66.8149	93.1267	0	3654.39	2447.4
3	13.231	0.128486		1	51.9084	99.8715	0	2846.26	1607.58
4	25.647	1.2984		2	57.0905	98.7016	0	4011.01	2768.84
5	21.012	0		0	56.6724	100	0	3101.46	1795.01
6	29.963	4.22855		5	57.7479	95.7715	0	4596.19	3310.83
7	26.681	0		0	64.1655	100	0	2484.48	1258.12
8	103.639	2.76344		4	58.8331	97.2366	3	9292.2	7995.52
9	33.75	0.58963		3	66.6341	99.4104	0	3800.93	2551.88
10	21.614	0		0	63.593	100	0	2497.69	1301.31
11	32.933	0		0	60.5745	100	2	3208.57	1931.99
12	36.95	0.722598		1	64.3085	99.2774	0	3211.79	1924.32
13	26.023	13.5265		6	43.5653	86.4735	1	6504.78	5257.54
14	15.683	0		0	58.1203	100	1	2592.41	1320.8
15	26.754	0		0	63.9904	100	1	2444.62	1178.18
16	36.93	6.06553		4	65.5294	93.9345	0	3754.61	2403.33
17	26.933	1.48517		1	62.2916	98.5148	1	3384.95	2050.31
18	53.17	3.87437		6	71.7698	96.1256	1	7575.33	6241.17
19	21.53	3.01904		3	64.784	96.981	0	4008.48	2792.73
20	33.898	8.35743		4	62.3282	91.6426	0	4206.72	2956.12
21	38.766	6.57793		6	66.1172	93.4221	1	5392.55	4123.7
22	36.283	1.19064		2	72.1963	98.8094	0	3428.81	2202
23	38,932	0.601048		1	66.0357	99,3989	1	3556.26	2310.26
24	20.91	0		0	66,7958	100	0	2315.75	1060.71
25	106.092	0.942578		2	66.8231	99.0574	7	5011.43	3756.37
26	22,779	4,46464		3	66.8159	95,5354	0	2977.5	1717.8
27	17,175	2,9345		2	63.6798	97.0655	0	2700.05	1397.97
28	17.381	0.414245		1	65.2437	99.5858	0	2888.68	1661.31
29	27.25	0		0	74,4771	100	1	2770.36	1474.28
30	52.367	1.99171		3	70.8729	98.0083	1	3472.69	2205.07
31	24,935	3,9984		3	56.8037	96.0016	0	3533.83	2320.02
32	34.19	0.400702		1	72.8693	99,5993	0	2921.3	1641.85
33	34.875	1.63728		2	56,7111	98.3627	1	4352.6	3132.94
34	27.388	0		0	72.1849	100	0	2836.09	1577.03
35	33.965	0		0	66.7216	100	0	2607.91	1309.28
36	44.531	1.93573		3	73.2478	98.0643	1	3094.8	1899.09
37	27.229	2.60384		2	63.5683	97.3962	0	3033.45	1728.89
38	17.872	2.70255		1	59.2771	97.2974	1	2584.6	1329.8
39	22.917	2.19924		1	75.2411	97.8008	0	2733.35	1450.08
40	17.7	0		0	59.5254	100	0	2385.28	1171.69
41	13,732	0		0	56,7288	100	0	2638.72	1389.04
42	28.181	0.532274		1	63.1241	99.4677	0	2679.97	1393.42
43	31.783	0		0	69.3861	100	0	2791.8	1589.98
44	17,782	0		0	66,6179	100	0	2337.21	1069.79
45	20.083	1.65812		1	58.6616	98.3419	0	2435.61	1247.9
46	35.999	10,1364		6	52.2931	89.8636	1	5491.12	4208.42
47	17.882	0		0	70.2326	100	0	2322.32	1044.57
48	28,917	0		0	70,7646	100	0	2702.96	1390.05
49	21.846	1.75318		1	67.9392	98.2468	0	2852.27	1477.35

VR parameters		
unique ID VR_pendulur VR_pendulur VR_pendulur VR_pendulur VR_	visualise_\	/R_visualise
1 116.63 123.52 0 1304.23 43.16	211.64	1123.02
2 297.45 419.34 20.22 1305.64 30.67	220.29	692.47
3 <mark>45.7638.590207.893.96</mark>	347.27	1819.72
4 57.62 113.08 11.75 310.25 5.21	149.84	809.42
5 104.9 238.64 0.23 268.5 3.95	291.33	1290.03
6 104.06 323.97 1.67 355.37 3.81	192.63	1476.28
7 387.5 618.43 15.84 3618.1 21.23	455.06	2490.13
8 488.99 851.67 16.35 3299.39 19.3	736.02	3732.25
9 248.62 551.62 25.32 1350.61 3.83	330.99	2586.08
10 105.13 240.59 19.24 474.12 3.76	223.65	611.27
11 81.51 104.24 0 528.64 17.49	259.54	736.51
12 112.84 212.87 0.96 893.31 24.87	708.52	4332.91
13 98.93 393.67 9.74 581.03 18.15	696.29	3252.96
14 104.43 196.22 2.04 352.3 10.83	321.46	1025.18
15 88.12 129.66 0 357.62 3.83	526.33	1232.94
16 145.64 171.17 0 632.64 18.23	427.26	904.98
17 76.06 318.7 2.66 502.22 11.18	286.84	1892.37
18 373.63 787.16 2.17 2993.79 32.27	523.53	1543.2
19 56.02 112.98 0 295.96 2.21	389.63	1213.39
20 182.78 701.83 14.76 1222.26 8.61	327.48	1122.14
21 323.56 313.48 6.86 1559.9 19.49	470.49	2420.17
22 93.73 224.55 0 501.39 8.18	187.19	1033.37
23 50.45 74.78 0 165.34 3.83	261.04	905.85
24 175.78 580.31 16.38 1524.43 38.2	183.94	1046.44
25 327.84 1100.64 4.1 3065.81 9.72	532.89	2735.49
26 52.43 165.31 5.53 482.22 3.6	242.47	1116.32
27 126.7 608.39 1.78 777.02 13.13	287.23	1127.33
28 106.07 254.73 6.05 507.17 3.84	212.64	961.29
29 51.52 207.12 0.83 199.77 3.73	293.45	1237.54
30 65.06 215.89 0.15 324.11 15.63	263.7	1474.85
31 44.61 245.76 13.45 335.32 4.08	204.62	1805.92
32 146.65 321.27 19.45 653.94 4.47	170.88	644.07
33 116.27 141.32 0 455.22 9.8	175.15	473.09
34 113.38 174.75 0.32 655.39 4.75	267.4	948.79
35 151.79 369.14 3.27 863.45 34.14	227.61	1219.07
36 148.09 318.33 1.78 1057.24 26.96	240.24	1025.34
37 175.28 388.95 20.56 1085.58 12.65	474.83	1983.13
38 90.01 100.5 0 609.13 2.18	222.09	1127.73
39 96.33 184.38 1.25 785.69 7.98	168.91	1141.68
40 40.25 198.77 2.48 247.14 3.72	339.69	2483.1
41 43.86 118.39 1.7 93.2 0.14	186.16	694.84
42 100.6 146.4 9.86 510.64 3.84	245.21	1744.93
43 182.76 179.43 1.66 1082.83 21.7	672.79	2335.3
44 52.76 122.51 0 246.4 3.83	132.45	745.94
45 140.38 181.83 1.83 537.92 14.28	870.64	2815.2
46 167.07 170.55 0.99 1088.31 45.84	208.79	746 78
47 106.65 106.62 12.47 439.47 4.27	193.43	509.35
48 55,89 102,35 0 186,61 3,82	109.56	457.53

				VR para	imeters			
unique ID	VR_visualise_	VR_palpate_	VR_palpate_	VR_palpate_	VR_palapate	VR_palpate_	VR_OR_time	VR_OR_covd
1	26.95	288.93	1140.56	23.53	1294.82	4.29	220.94	1349.9
2	9.12	336.06	1265.97	15.69	1166.1	5.17	515.8	3421.28
3	22.03	238.87	877.94	6.84	939.72	3.92	175.73	1148.38
4	17.53	340.14	989.15	19.19	1267.8	11.58	166.96	964.64
5	25.24	292.74	1014.42	25.26	700.73	4.15	194.32	1337.24
6	37.64	384.91	2172.73	39.92	1124.52	27.79	195.47	2159.13
7	28.26	277.74	624.64	17.9	1430.49	5.08	270.8	2229.68
8	21.12	1248.8	4194.73	14.31	8412.79	43.31	559.64	3790.51
9	28.08	456.49	1898.47	25.04	2964.34	19.42	334.71	3151.26
10	8.93	274.02	367.76	25	683.14	3.86	441.52	1695.53
11	18.96	206.99	357.91	1.15	565.75	4.71	282.73	1222.83
12	16.23	311.46	914.81	27.81	2634.23	38.52	261.24	2137.08
13	23.25	282.51	974.82	6.47	1951.04	8.64	333.6	3459.59
14	13.3	148.86	377.5	0.24	370.99	0	750.92	4830.22
15	10.87	311.27	651.3	0.71	788.76	3.84	600.02	1860.23
16	6.13	425.21	920.64	10.15	1469.21	4.81	415.59	1641.6
17	25.11	148.41	595.81	8.97	422.73	3.9	227.73	1668.03
18	27.26	714.25	2315.7	20.25	2756.42	10.46	511.59	2601.7
19	17.59	320.01	743.39	7.73	1044.68	4.31	295.07	1732.12
20	20.77	948.98	3264.7	18.5	3033.51	9.45	511.82	2369.4
21	37.58	599.14	1869.95	24.95	2191.66	16.76	329.89	2021.49
22	27.5	323.85	1487.67	31.43	1504.06	15.97	147.7	1819.89
23	4.04	464.53	1457.14	25.85	1580.76	5.33	260.39	2204.65
24	13.5	250.08	982.12	35.21	629.12	3.84	179.02	899.39
25	34.01	408.13	1441.65	41.93	1861.05	12.5	284.79	1715.22
26	18.57	131.94	314.97	9.07	509.38	4.01	222.76	1899.8
27	14.47	240.71	1050.36	4.27	896.96	7.73	159.99	1200.06
28	24.21	272.04	1160.54	14.92	592.69	3.78	218.81	1682.85
29	37.44	354.17	1442.67	29.53	877.22	3.83	383.17	3085.86
30	20.19	273.5	864.25	8.83	1120.1	28.66	123.51	1419.35
31	15.52	202.44	1103.79	18.74	946.33	3.79	252.57	3571.18
32	26.48	404.29	1274.04	25.53	1721.77	27.03	117.13	889.95
33	1.98	224.17	562.65	4.32	570.19	3.83	289.65	1870.12
34	15.92	244.88	563.6	4.44	1061.55	51.5	238.08	1864.99
35	18.91	351.73	1000.2	30.4	1202.26	9.12	128.81	1145.55
36	21.73	268.92	1003.88	14.8	913.18	26.76	326.97	1834.21
37	19.45	322.3	971.12	13.08	1878.53	26.3	170.56	1612.51
38	21.17	153.1	459.43	23.21	715.62	6.01	134.9	1546.74
39	13.17	204.85	1060.63	18.09	1348.41	29.79	215.65	1952.7
40	25.08	279.74	1401.92	20.39	2210.45	42.28	176.95	1508.87
41	5.48	249.47	788.19	7.61	531.77	12.63	268.88	1519.92
42	20.56	303.05	866.5	33.75	1565.09	22.39	121.59	1277.44
43	26.44	642.1	1360.51	27.09	2253.61	32.64	391.14	1559.16
44	3.22	318.17	1187.5	11.05	2635.61	24.9	184.64	1548.74
45	34.71	534.59	1201.23	30.04	2105.02	33.57	264.85	1172.75
46	3.36	228.5	873.68	12.95	1037.43	6.15	176.67	1019.48
47	7.34	241.32	554.53	15.95	807.16	0	153.95	654.05
48	1.96	214.73	894.46	19.89	891.54	4.72	206.8	1637.5
49	21.51	209.31	621.61	10.3	595.09	3.9	231.16	1441.26